
Please ask for Christine Morgan: Telephone 01775 764454 
e-mail: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT

Date & Time - Thursday, 28 July 2016 at 6.30 pm

Venue - Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Governance and Audit:

Councillors: G R Aley (Chairman), J R Astill (Vice-Chairman), C J T H Brewis, T A Carter, 
P C Foyster, A Harrison and M J Pullen

Revised quorum 3.

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn off mobile telephones 

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:  20 July 2016



AGENDA
PLEASE NOTE TIMINGS
ARE APPROXIMATE

TIME
6.30 p.m. 1. Apologies for absence

 
6.31 p.m. 2. Declaration of Interests

(Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 
the Councillor must declare the interest to the meeting 
and leave the room without participating in any 
discussion or making a statement on the item, except 
where a Councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a 
grant of dispensation). 

6.32 p.m. 3. Minutes
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting 
held on 26 May 2016 (copy enclosed).

(Pages 1 - 
10)

6.35 p.m. 4. External Audit Progress Report
To receive an update at the meeting from external audit 
(KPMG).

6.50 p.m. 5. Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity
This report examines progress made between 1 April 
and 18 July 2016 in relation to the completion of the 
Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2016/17, and includes 
abbreviated executive summaries in respect of the audit 
reviews which have been finalised in the course of this 
period Committee on the progress of the plan (report of 
the Internal Audit Consortium Manager is enclosed).

(Pages 11 
- 28)

7.05 p.m. 6. Annual Governance Statement
To present the approved Annual Governance Statement 
to Committee (report of the Executive Director 
Commercialisation (Section 151 Officer) is enclosed).

(Pages 29 
- 38)

7.20 p.m. 7. Un-Audited 2015/16 Financial Statement Status
To receive an update at the meeting on the Un-Audited 
2015/16 Financial Statement Status.

7.35 p.m. 8. Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18
To review specific discounts within the Council Tax 
Support Scheme (report of the Executive Director – 
Commercialisation (Section 151 Officer) is enclosed).

(Pages 39 
- 44)

7.50 p.m. 9. Annual Treasury Management Review 2015/16
To provide pre-decision scrutiny to the Annual Treasury 
Management Review 2015-16 (report of the Executive 
Director Commercialisation (Section 151 Officer) is 
enclosed).

(Pages 45 
- 62)



8.05 p.m. 10. Governance and Audit Committee Self Assessment
To give consideration to the Governance and Audit 
Committee self-assessment (report of the Executive 
Director – Commercialisation (S151) is enclosed).

(Pages 63 
- 70)

8.20 p.m. 11. Quarterly Risk Report - Quarter 1 2016/17
To inform the Committee of the current status of the 
Council’s strategic risks (report of the Executive Director 
of Strategy and Governance is enclosed).

(Pages 71 
- 80)

8.35 p.m. 12. Governance and Audit Committee Work Programme
To set out the Work Programme of the Governance and 
Audit Committee (report of the Assistant Director 
Democratic Services enclosed).

(Pages 81 
- 86)

8.40 p.m. 13. Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent. 

NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by 
reason of special circumstances, which 
shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) 
should be considered as a matter of 
urgency.



This page is intentionally left blank



- 47 -

Minutes of a meeting of the GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT held in the Meeting Room 
1, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Thursday, 26 May 2016 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

G R Aley (Chairman)
J R Astill (Vice-Chairman)

C J T H Brewis T A Carter P C Foyster

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors A Harrison and 
M J Pullen, and KPMG. 

In Attendance:  L Pledge (Head of Audit and Risk Management, Audit Lincolnshire), 
Interim Chief Accountant (Deputy S151 Officer), Change and Performance Manager, 
Finance Accountant and Democratic Services Officer.

Action By
48. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

There were none. 

49. MINUTES 

The minutes of the Governance and Audit Committee meeting on 
3 March 2016 were signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 

50. QUARTERLY RISK REPORT 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Strategy and Governance, which updated the Committee on the 
current status of the Authority’s strategic risks.  The report had 
been compiled to include updates on strategic risks for quarter 4, 
2015/16.

The Performance and Change Manager referred members to the 
strategic risk register, that formed Appendix A within the report, 
which included 12 strategic risks.  It had been updated within the 
last month to ensure the content was current.  The most 
significant current strategic risk related to the ICT breach at 
Lincolnshire County Council.  There had been a subtle decrease 
in score as a result of ongoing efforts to secure system 
processes, which would continue to be monitored closely.

Members discussed the new Mimecast security software which 
replaced McAffee.  The Chairman advised that the software had 
been discussed at the recent ICT Councillor Working Group 
meeting and that the Interim IT Manager had sent a 
communication to councillors to explain how the Mimecast 
software worked.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 3.



- 48 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 26 May 2016

The other risk areas drawn to members’ attention included:

 Impact of Devolution Agenda
 Failure to deliver Local Plan and its Delivery Plan
 Medium Term Financial Plan not delivered
 Business rate retention scheme
 Uncertainty over future government funding settlement

Members agreed that the risk scores were moving in a positive 
direction.  

DECISION:

That the contents of the report be noted. 

TR, GP

51. ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT 

Consideration was given to the report of the Audit & Risk 
Manager (Audit Lincolnshire), which sought consideration of the 
Internal Audit Annual Report 2015/16.  A revised version of the 
report was circulated at the meeting.  

Members noted that the purpose of the Internal Audit Annual 
Report was to meet the requirements set out in the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015, specifically to:

 Include an independent opinion on the overall adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Council’s governance, risk and control 
framework and therefore the extent to which the Council could 
rely on it; 

 Inform how the plan was discharged and the overall outcomes 
of the work undertaken that supported the opinion;

 A statement on conformance with the PSIAS and the results of 
the internal audit quality assurance and improvement 
programme (QAIP); and

 Draw attention to any issues particularly relevant to the Annual 
Governance Statement. 

The Audit & Risk Manager drew attention to the scores in relation 
to:

 Governance – Performing Well (Green)
 Risk – Performing Well (Green)
 Internal Control – Performing Adequately (Amber)

Page 2



- 49 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 26 May 2016

 Financial Control – Performing Adequately (Amber)

Only one area, Accounts Payable, had received a ‘low’ assurance 
opinion during the year.  Members noted that colleagues from 
East Lindsey District Council would continue to monitor that area.

Some ‘limited’ assurance opinions were given in relation to:

 ICT Strategy and Project Management;
 ICT Software;
 Payroll; and
 Service Delivery – Procurement Lincolnshire.

The Committee considered the report and the following questions 
were asked:

 Were Local Authorities uniquely in danger in terms of IT 
security?

o All businesses and organisations faced the same risk.

 Was there a risk in relation to an officer with responsibility 
leaving the organisation and someone new coming in?

o Processes were in place to ensure a structured 
handover of work and priorities.  However, there was 
always a degree of change whilst a new employee 
settled into position.  

 Could an update be provided to the Committee in respect of 
the ‘limited’ assurance areas?

o The Corporate Improvement and Performance Manager 
would be requested to provide an update.

 Was any further information available regarding the ICT and 
Project Management area?

o ICT had been reproducing plans for the forthcoming 
year which were being reviewed for which a report 
would be submitted to Cabinet.  A report would also be 
brought back to the Committee.

Members noted that a new Interim IT Manager, Compass Point 
Business Services, had been appointed.  

The Chief Accountant reminded members of the new control 
system that had been introduced to monitor the capital spend on 
a monthly basis.  He advised that officers were also producing 
information on the outcomes and how they measured up against 
Council finances.  The Chief Accountant informed members that a 
training session would be held, later in the year, to go through the 
details of the system.  

Page 3



- 50 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 26 May 2016

On behalf of the Committee, the Chairman thanked the Audit & 
Risk Manager for her work with the Council.  The Audit & Risk 
Manager advised that she would continue to coordinate the 
Lincolnshire Committee Forum meetings which members and 
officers were welcome to attend.  

DECISION:

a) That the Internal Audit Annual Report 2015/16 be noted; 

b) That a report be provided to Committee in respect of the 
‘limited’ assurance areas; 

c) That a report be provided to Committee in respect of the ICT 
and Project Management area;

d) That a training session be arranged to go through the details 
of the new control system.

(Councillor P C Foyster and the Audit & Risk Manager left the 
meeting at 7.15 pm, following consideration of the above item.) 

GP, KT, 
CM

52. EXTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT AND TECHNICAL 
UPDATE 

Consideration was given to KPMG’s External Audit progress 
report and technical update, which updated the Committee on 
progress with the Audit Plan as at May 2016.  A summary of 
progress against the deliverables was provided in Appendix 1 
within the report.

The Chief Accountant reported that he had received a letter from 
the Director of KPMG advising that there was nothing significant 
to report to the Committee and he had therefore extended his 
apologies for the meeting.

The Committee considered the report and the following questions 
were asked:

 When changes were being made to legislation in respect of 
finance, was it the role of the Finance Officers to keep up to 
speed or were local authorities specifically alerted?

o It was necessary for officers to keep abreast of 
continuing changes to local government legislation, 
however notifications were also generally forwarded to 
local authorities.  

Page 4



- 51 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 26 May 2016

 Was it still intended to implement a damping system in respect 
of national business rates?

o A consultation was due to take place in the summer.  It 
would also be necessary to consider the effects of 
devolution.  The rural services grant had been 
reintroduced and rate areas were already included 
within the national system of tariffs.

 What did ‘exercise of public rights’ mean?
o The audit of accounts was public information and any 

member of the public had the right to challenge the 
Council if they so wished.  The draft statement of 
accounts  for 2015/16 would be published on the 
website within the next 2 weeks and the consultation 
would need to include the first 10 days of July 2016.  
That activity would take place as part of the constant 
drive to be as  transparent as possible when reporting 
financial matters.  

The Chief Accountant advised that prior to the next meeting there 
would be a training slot to discuss the audit of accounts and how 
it related to management reporting.  

DECISION:

That the External Audit progress report and technical update be 
noted. 

KT

53. UN-AUDITED 2015/16 FINANCIAL STATEMENT STATUS 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Commercialisation (S151 Officer) which sought to present a 
progress report on the un-audited 2015/16 Financial Statements 
to the Committee for review and consideration, prior to the 30 
June deadline for the formal approval of the Accounts by the 
Section 151 Officer, before audit.

The report presented the unaudited financial statements to enable 
comments and challenge, and to highlight any key areas.  The 
financial statements production process was progressing and 
draft statements would be completed by the end of May 2016.  
Included within Appendix A were the un-audited versions of the 
2015/16 main Statements (the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement, the Movement in Reserves Statement, 
Cash Flow Statement and Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2016).

The accounts had been completed but were subject to checks to 
ensure that they fully complied with disclosure requirements 
which would continue up the 30 June statutory deadline, when the 

Page 5



- 52 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 26 May 2016

accounts would be signed off by the Section 151 Officer and then 
passed on for audit.  Any significant changes identified between 
that time would be reported to committee in July 2016.

Appendix B, included within the report, highlighted the main 
changes from previous years in respect of the code of practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom.

Appendix C of the report highlighted the management reporting 
variances for Quarter 4 performance.

The Draft Annual Governance statement was attached within 
Appendix D for comment. The draft statement had been issued to 
the Executive Management Team for approval on 23 May 2016.  
The final document would be approved by 30 June 2016 in line 
with the un-audited accounts as both documents needed to be 
published on the website on 1 July 2016 for a minimum of 20 
working days public consultation.

Members noted that a training session on the annual accounts 
and the difference to the management accounts would be given in 
a pre-meeting session before the July meeting.

The Committee considered the report and the following questions 
were asked:

 Were pension percentages going to be altered?
o It was unknown as to whether the pension percentages 

would be altered, however changes had been made to 
the national insurance contributions which had been 
taken account of in the budget.

 There had been an increase with the long term debtors, but in 
relation to what?

o The long term debtors primarily consisted car loans and 
some mortgages.  The Council had also taken on some 
leases during the course of the year.  

 What was the situation in relation to asbestos?
o The policy had been amended in order to look at a 

reduced bill for asbestos removal as time went on. 

 What was the link between the long term assets and the 
income and expenditure account?

o A training session would be given in order to look at the 
way the long term assets and the income and 
expenditure account interrelate. 

Page 6



- 53 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 26 May 2016

 What was meant in terms of ‘Place’?
o ‘Place’ was the directorate under which remit were 

areas such as Environmental Services, Housing and 
Planning.  An explanation would be included in future 
reports to ensure it was clear to the public.

 What was the £25,000 for in relation to footway lighting?
o Maintenance and replacement lighting.

 What were the penalties in terms of housing benefit error rates 
if fraudulent claims were made?

o If prosecution was successful there would be no error.  
Any errors would be on the authority alone, which was 
an operational risk and not governance.

DECISION:

a) That the Un-audited 2015/16 main financial statements be 
noted;

b) That the full statements be noted as work in progress; 

c) That the Section 151 Officer make the necessary 
amendments prior to the formal approval of the statements 
for audit and report any substantial changes to committee in 
July 2016; 

d) That the Executive Management Team approve the Annual 
Governance Statement and make comments as necessary 
within the appropriate timeframe;

e) That training sessions be arranged to go through the 
management accounts, and to look at how the long term 
assets and the income and expenditure accounts 
interrelated; and

f) That future Committee reports contain an explanation for 
terms such as ‘Place’. 

(Councillor T A Carter left the meeting at 8.16 pm and returned at 
8.18 pm, following consideration of the above item. 

JK, KT, CM

54. LOCAL COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Commercialisation (S151 Officer) which sought to review the 
existing Council Tax Support Scheme and to develop a work plan 
for the examination of existing and potentially new discounts.

Page 7



- 54 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 26 May 2016

Members noted that the Local Council Tax Support Scheme had 
replaced the former national Council Tax Benefit (CTB) Scheme 
from April 2013.  The scheme for pensioners continued to be 
prescribed by the Government and allowed up to 100% support 
against Council Tax liability.

In 2014/15 the South Holland Council Tax Support Scheme had 
required all working age households to pay at least 75% of their 
Council Tax liability.  The scheme had been reviewed annually 
and retained through 2015/16 and 2016/17.

A briefing note reporting the Council Tax Discounts current 
application of areas of discretion was attached as Appendix A 
within the report.

The Committee considered the report and the following questions 
were asked:

 Could the Committee have a breakdown of what the Council 
was collecting?

o Details would be included within the revised work plan.

 Could the Council impose a 200% charge on properties that 
had been uninhabited for more than a year?

o Punative charges were not currently part of the national 
policy and were not allowed locally.

DECISION:

a) That the briefing note at Appendix A be noted; and

b) That a revised work plan be submitted to the next 
Committee meeting to include specific discounts to be 
examined at each meeting. 

KT, JK, CM

55. GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE SELF ASSESSMENT 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Commercialisation (S151 Officer) which provided details of the 
Governance and Audit self assessment. 

Members noted that the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) advocated that it was good practice for 
Audit Committees to undertake regular assessments, which 
enabled members to gain an appreciation of what afforded best 
practice, to confirm the level of compliance being achieved, and to 
identify any potential areas for enhancements to be made to 
arrangements.

Page 8



- 55 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 26 May 2016

CIPFA’s Audit Committee Self-Assessment Checklist, attached at 
Appendix A within the report, focussed on 6 fundamental areas, 
and 66 individual aspects of operations.  The key areas were:

 Establishment, Operation and Duties;
 Internal Control;
 Financial Reporting and Regulatory Matters;
 Internal Audit;
 External Audit; and
 Administration.

Members’ attention was drawn to the following issues and 
actions:

 (1.8) Does the audit committee make a formal annual report 
on its work and performance during the year to full council?

o Programme for introduction of a report to be agreed

The Chief Accountant advised that it was up to Committee 
members to provide guidance on what they wanted to include 
within the report.

 (3.2) Does the audit committee consider specifically:
- the suitability of accounting policies and treatments;
- major judgements made;
- large write-offs;
- changes in accounting treatment;
- the reasonableness of accounting estimates;
- the narrative aspects of reporting?

o Draft changes agreed in February 2016 for accounting 
treatment.  Narrative / presentations generally accepted 
as being understandable

Members noted that a report would be brought to a future meeting 
in relation to a collectability review.  Members stated that it was 
necessary for officers to make more use of councillors’ knowledge 
in relation to write-offs and empty homes.    

 (3.7) Does the audit committee have a mechanism to keep it 
aware of topical legal and regulatory issues, for example by 
receiving circulars and through training?

o Devolution agreement requires specific attention based 
on Leader briefings to date.

Members discussed the current status in relation to devolution.  
The Chief Accountant emphasised the importance of the 
Committee’s role in respect of the governance arrangements of a 
combined authority and how it would relate to South Holland 
District Council.  He suggested that members may want to receive 

Page 9



- 56 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 26 May 2016

a presentation from the Council’s lead officer, at a future meeting, 
in addition to a report highlighting the potential starting points for 
the governance arrangements.

DECISION:

a) That the completed checklist at Appendix A be noted and 
actions be completed; 

b) That the Council’s lead officer for Devolution be invited to 
attend a Committee meeting to provide a presentation on 
devolution; and 

c) That a report highlighting the potential starting points for the 
governance arrangements be presented to the Committee. 

JK, KT, CM

56. GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE WORK 
PROGRAMME 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager 
Governance, which presented the Work Programme of the 
Governance and Audit Committee, as set out in Appendix A within 
the report.

Members considered the report and the Work Programme and 
agreed all items on it were correct.  

The Democratic Services Officer advised that a request had been 
made to organise a special meeting of the Governance and Audit 
Committee at the end of August / early September.  The Chief 
Accountant explained that the Executive Director 
Commercialisation (S151) wanted to meet with the Committee in 
order to sign off the final accounts.  

DECISION:

a) That the report and content of the Work Programme be 
noted; and

b) That a special meeting of the Governance and audit 
Committee be scheduled on Thursday 1 September 2016 at 
6.30 pm.   

CM, AT, KT

(The meeting ended at 8.53 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 10



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Internal Audit Consortium Manager 

To: Governance and Audit Committee 28 July 2016

Author: Emma Hodds, Internal Audit Consortium Manager

Subject: Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity

Purpose: This report examines progress made between 1 April and 18 July 2016 in 
relation to the completion of the Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2016/17, and 
includes abbreviated executive summaries in respect of the audit reviews 
which have been finalised in the course of this period

Recommendation(s): 

1) That members note the outcomes of the two audits completed by TIAA Ltd, the 
amendment to the audit plan and the progress made in relation to the recommendations 
associated with the ICT Audits (ICT Strategy & Projects and ICT Software).

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Governance and Audit Committee receive updates on progress made against the 
annual internal audit plan. This report forms part of the overall reporting requirements to 
assist the Council in discharging its responsibilities in relation to the internal audit activity. 

1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require the Chief Audit Executive (Internal Audit 
Consortium Manager) to report to the Governance and Audit Committee the performance of 
internal audit relative to its agreed plan, including any significant risk exposures and control 
issues. The frequency of reporting at South Holland is to each meeting. To comply with the 
above the report identifies:- 

o Any significant changes to the approved Audit Plan;
o Progress made  in delivering the agreed audits for the year; 
o Any significant outcomes arising from those audits; and
o Performance Indicator outcomes to date.

2.0 CURRENT PROGRESS

2.1 The current position and issues in relation to the completion of the Annual Internal Audit 
Plan 2016/17 are shown within the report.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 The Governance and Audit Committee are requested to receive and note the Progress 
Report on Internal Audit Activity.  In doing so, the Committee is ensuring that the Internal 
Audit Service remains compliant with professional auditing standards, and are fulfilling their 
terms of reference.

4.0 IMPLICATIONS

4.1 Corporate Priorities

Page 11

Agenda Item 5.



4.1.1 Internal Audit helps to ensure that the service areas reviewed and ensuring that they are 
working towards the efficient and effective delivery of the Council’s corporate priorities.

4.2 Financial 

4.2.1 The Internal Audit Plan has been delivered within the approved budget for 2016/17.

4.3 Risk Management 

44.3.1 Internal Audit planning starts with the Council’s key risks, which then directs the audit plan 
for the financial year. Internal Audit reports then identify risks and control weaknesses 
within the Council which are highlighted in this report, with appropriate management action 
being agreed to mitigate these risks within agreed timeframes.

Background papers: - None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Emma Hodds Internal Audit Consortium Manager
Telephone Number: 01508 533791
Email:ehodds@s-norfolk.gov.uk

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting Emma Hodds, Internal Audit Consortium 
Manager

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report:  Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity

Page 12



Page 1 of 15

Eastern Internal Audit Services

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity

Period Covered: 1ST April 2016 to 18 July 2016

Responsible Officer: Emma Hodds – Internal Audit Consortium Manager (IACM)

CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION ..............................................................................................................2

2. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES TO THE APPROVED INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN ....................2

3. PROGRESS MADE IN DELIVERING THE AGREED AUDIT WORK ..............................3

4. THE OUTCOMES ARISING FROM OUR WORK ............................................................3

5. PERFORMANCE MEASURES.........................................................................................5

APPENDIX 1 – PROGRESS IN COMPLETING THE AGREED AUDIT WORK...................6

APPENDIX 2 – AUDIT REPORT EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES..............................................8

APPENDIX 3 – ICT RECOMMENDATIONS - UPDATE.....................................................14

APPENDIX 4 – PERFORMANCE MEASURES..................................................................15

Page 13



Page 2 of 15

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This report is issued to assist the Authority in discharging its responsibilities in relation to the 
internal audit activity. 

1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards also require the Chief Audit Executive (known in 
this context as the Internal Audit Consortium Manager) to report to the Audit Committee on 
the performance of internal audit relative to its plan, including any significant risk exposures 
and control issues. The frequency of reporting and the specific content are for the Authority 
to determine.

1.3 To comply with the above this report includes:- 

• Any significant changes to the approved Audit Plan;
• Progress made  in delivering the agreed audits for the year;
• Any significant outcomes arising from those audits; and
• Performance Indicator outcomes to date.

2. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES TO THE APPROVED INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN

2.1 At the meeting on the 3rd March 2016, the Annual Internal Audit Plan for the year was 
approved, identifying the specific audits to be delivered. 

The IT audit coverage at the time of the report was to be confirmed following a meeting 
between the IT Audit Manager and the Shared IT Manager for the Council. The IT audits to 
be undertaken this year will be; Cybersecurity; due to recent events and Disaster Recovery; 
to ensure that there is adequate provision, backup & recovery capabilities, and alignment 
with business continuity plans.

One amendment has been made to the plan, which has been agreed with the Section 151 
Officer and the Chief Accountant as follows:

Audit description Nature of the change

Welland Homes 

replaced by

Housing Right To Buy

On 12 July 2016 Cabinet received an interim 
business plan for Welland Homes in light of the 
housing and planning bill and the anticipated 
impact on implications for the Council as 
Landlord in housing delivery across the District.

The audit of Welland Homes has therefore been 
postponed to 2017/18 to allow time for the 
business plan to be developed and embedded at 
the Council.

Through discussions it was agreed it would be 
timely to look at the Housing Right To Buy 
process to ensure that this is robust, well 
controlled and efficient & effective for the 
customer. Also it’s important to gain an 
understanding of the impact of the housing and 
planning bill in this area, and how the Council 
are managing this. 

Page 14



Page 3 of 15

3. PROGRESS MADE IN DELIVERING THE AGREED AUDIT WORK

3.1 The current position in completing audits to date within the financial year is shown in 
Appendix 1 and progress to date is in line with expectations. . 

3.2 In summary 23 days of programmed work has been completed by Eastern Internal Audit 
Services, equating to 24% of the (revised) Internal Audit Plan for 2016/17.

3.3 East Lindsey District Council provide the review of Compass Point Business Services, with 
the majority of this work due to be undertaken in quarters three and four of the 2016/17 
financial year.

4. THE OUTCOMES ARISING FROM OUR WORK

4.1 On completion of each individual audit an assurance level is awarded using the definitions 
shown in the table below.

Substantial 
Assurance

Based upon the issues identified there is a robust series of suitably 
designed internal controls in place upon which the organisation relies to 
manage the risks to the continuous and effective achievement of the 
objectives of the process, and which at the time of our review were being 
consistently applied.

Reasonable 
Assurance

Based upon the issues identified there is a series of internal controls in 
place, however these could be strengthened to facilitate the organisation’s 
management of risks to the continuous and effective achievement of the 
objectives of the process. Improvements are required to enhance the 
controls to mitigate these risks.

Limited 
Assurance

Based upon the issues identified the controls in place are insufficient to 
ensure that the organisation can rely upon them to manage the risks to the 
continuous and effective achievement of the objectives of the process. 
Significant improvements are required to improve the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the controls to mitigate these risks.

No Assurance Based upon the issues identified there is a fundamental breakdown or 
absence of core internal controls such that the organisation cannot rely 
upon them to manage risk to the continuous and effective achievement of 
the objectives of the process. Immediate action is required to improve the 
controls required to mitigate these risks. 

4.2 Recommendations made on completion of audit work are prioritised using the definitions 
shown in the table below.

Urgent Fundamental control issue on which action to implement should be taken within 
1 month.

Page 15



Page 4 of 15

Important Control issue on which action to implement should be taken within 3 months.

Needs 
Attention

Control issue on which action to implement should be taken within 6 months.

4.3 In addition, on completion of audit work “Operational Effectiveness Matters” are proposed, 
these set out matters identified during the assignment where there may be opportunities for 
service enhancements to be made to increase both the operational efficiency and enhance 
the delivery of value for money services. These are for management to consider and are not 
part of the follow up process.

4.4 During the period covered by the report Internal Audit Services have issued two final reports 
and the Executive Summary of these reports are attached at Appendix 2, full copies of 
these reports can be requested by Members from the Internal Audit Consortium Manager. 

4.5 As a result of these audits eight recommendations have been raised; no urgent (priority 
one), two important (priority two) and six needs attention (priority three). All of which have 
been agreed by management for implementation.

In addition two Operational Effectiveness Matters have been proposed to management for 
consideration.

4.6 In summary the final reports issued conclude the following:

Corporate Health and Safety

This audit reviewed the systems and controls in place for Corporate Health and Safety 
(H&S) at both Breckland and South Holland District Councils. With specific regard to; 
designated responsible officers, roles & responsibilities of the H&S Group and respective 
joint committees, guidance available, inspections, and reporting of instances. 

The audit concluded with a reasonable assurance and raised two important (priority two) 
and one needs attention (priority three) recommendations. The important recommendations 
relate to; reviewing outlying / residual premises to determine where H&S responsibility lies & 
to obtain evidence of H&S compliance and H&S inspections to be undertaken on all 
corporate premises & to document and report on the outcomes.

Branding

This joint audit focused on brand guidelines across Breckland and South Holland District 
Councils, in particular focusing on whether brands are fit for purpose, have been formally 
approved and are being correctly applied. 

The audit concluded with a reasonable assurance and five needs attention (priority three) 
recommendations were agreed with management.

4.7 It is pleasing to note that both audits concluded in a positive opinion being awarded, 
indicating a strong and stable control environment to date, with no issues that would need to 
be considered at year end and included in the Annual Governance Statement. 

4.8 Committee have previously requested updates on the two limited assurance reports that 
were issued by Audit Lincolnshire on ICT Strategy & Projects and ICT Software. 

Page 16



Page 5 of 15

East Lindsey District Council has followed up on the recommendations and the detailed 
responses for the work in progress / outstanding recommendations can be seen at 
Appendix 3. In summary the current position is:

ICT Strategy and Projects

Five recommendations (four high priority and one medium priority) were agreed with 
management on conclusion of the review. The current position is that four have been either 
actioned by management or superseded, and one high priority is work in progress, with a 
revised date of September 2016 provided for implementation.

ICT Software

Six recommendations (three high priority and three medium priority) were agreed with 
management on conclusion of the review. The current position is that the three medium 
priority recommendations have been actioned by management or superseded, and the three 
high priority recommendations are work in progress, with deadline dates of September 2016 
provided for implementation. 

5. PERFORMANCE MEASURES

5.1 The new Internal Audit Services contract includes a suite of key performance measures 
against which the new contractor will be reviewed on a quarterly basis. There are a total of 
11 indicators, over 4 areas. The performance measures can be seen at Appendix 4.

5.2 There are individual requirements for performance in relation to each measure; however 
performance will be assessed on an overall basis as follows (for the first year):

• 9-11 KPIs have met target = Green Status.
• 5-8 KPIs have met target = Amber Status.
• 4 or below have met target = Red Status.

Where performance is amber or red a Performance Improvement Plan will be developed by 
the contractor and agreed with the Internal Audit Consortium Manager to ensure that 
appropriate action is taken.

5.3 The first quarters work has been completed and a report on the performance measures is 
due to be provided to the Internal Audit Consortium Manager imminently, however early 
indication is that performance is at green status.

5.4 In addition to these quarterly reports from the Contractors Audit Director, ongoing weekly 
updates are provided to ensure that delivery of the audit plan for the current financial year is 
on track. A review of the most recent update indicates that work is progressing as expected.

 

Page 17



Page 6 of 15

APPENDIX 1 – PROGRESS IN COMPLETING THE AGREED AUDIT WORK 

Audit Area Audit Ref No. of days Revised 
Days

Days 
Delivered

Status Assurance 
Level

Date to 
Committee

Urgent Important Needs 
Attention

Op

Quarter 1
Corporate Health and Safety SH1701 3 3 3 Final Report issued 24 May 

2016
Reasonable 0 2 1 1 28 July 

2016
Branding SH1702 3 3 3 Final Report issued 18 July 

2016
Reasonable 0 0 5 1 28 July 

2016
TOTAL 6 6 6
Quarter 2
South Holland Centre SH1703 7 7 2 Audit to start 26 July 2016
Strategic Housing SH1704 10 3 2.5 Draft Report imminent
Welland Homes
Housing Right to Buy

SH1714 0 7 0 Currently being scoped

Ascoughfee SH1705 7 7 0.5 Audit to start 16 August 2016

TOTAL 24 24 5
Quarter 3
Licensing and Business Support SH1706 5 5 0
TOTAL 5 5 0
Quarter 4
Corporate Governance SH1707 4 4 0
Risk Management SH1708 3 3 0
TOTAL 7 7 0
IT Audits
Coverage to be confirmed TBC 20 0 0
Cybersecurity SH1712 0 10 9 Draft Report issued 14 July 

2016
Disaster Recovery SH1713 0 10 0 Planned for quarter 3

TOTAL 20 20 9

Recommendations

P
age 18



Page 7 of 15

Audit Area Audit Ref No. of days Revised 
Days

Days 
Delivered

Status Assurance 
Level

Date to 
Committee

Urgent Important Needs 
Attention

Op

Follow Up
Follow Up NA 12 12 3 Ongoing review of the 

implementation of audit 
recommendations through 
Covalent

Other work - timing to be confirmed
Transformation Programme - benefits 
realisation

SH1709 6 6 0 Currently in discussion over 
what to cover - timetabled 
review for quarter 4

Planned Maintenance, major contracts 
and property services
Responsive repairs, voids and recharges

SH1710 10 10 0 Provisionally planned for 
quarter 4

Leisure SH1711 5 5 0
TOTAL 33 33 3

TOTAL 95 95 23 0 2 6 2

Percentage of plan completed 24%

Audits to be delivered by East Lindsey DC
Key Controls and Assurance TBC 20 20 0 Planned for quarter 3 /4 
Payroll TBC 10 10 0 Planned for quarter 3 /4 
Accounts Payable TBC 10 10 0 Planned for quarter 3 /4 
HB Subsidy Testing TBC 25 25 0 Due to commence early 

August
65 65 0

0%

OVERALL TOTAL 160 160 23

14%

Recommendations

P
age 19



Page 8 of 15

APPENDIX 2 – AUDIT REPORT EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES

Assurance Review of Corporate Health and Safety

Executive Summary

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT ACTION POINTS

Control Area Urgent Important Needs Attention Operational

Health and Safety Group and 
Joint Committees

0 0 1 1

Programmed Inspections 0 2* 0 0

Inspection Outcomes 0 0* 0 0

Total 0 2 1 1

*Applies to both areas. 

No recommendations have been raised in respect of Corporate Responsibilities, 
Written Guidance, Management System and Incident Reporting.  

SCOPE

The objective of the audit was to review the systems and controls in place within Corporate Health and Safety, as detailed in the action points above, to help confirm that these 
are operating adequately, effectively and efficiently. 

P
age 20



Page 9 of 15

RATIONALE 

• The systems and processes of internal control are, overall, deemed ‘Reasonable’’ in managing the risks associated with Remittances. The assurance 
opinion has been derived as a result of two ‘important’ and one ‘needs attention’ recommendations being raised upon the conclusion of our work. 

• The audit has also raised one ‘operational effectiveness matter’, which set out matters identified during the assignment where there may be opportunities 
for service enhancements to be made to increase both the operational efficiency and enhance the delivery of value for money services.

KEY FINDINGS

Positive Findings 

We found that the Council has demonstrated the following points of good practice as identified in this review and we will be sharing details of these 
operational provisions with other member authorities in the Consortium:

• Breckland and South Holland have procured a Health and Safety Management system (Vision Communications System) which is being rolled out 
across both Councils with separate modules for each Council.  The intention is to make individual managers responsible for health and safety 
management within their areas of responsibility, overseen by the Health and Safety Advisor and the Executive Manager - Public Protection. 

• The new system will allow all locations/corporate offices to be set up, accessible through drop down menus with designated managers assigned to 
specific tasks including health and safety risk assessments, with progress of those assessments being monitored by the Health and Safety Advisor 
and the Executive Manager - Public Protection. There is also the facility to store policy and procedural guidance, training records/material and 
reporting of incidents as well as providing management reports on health and safety activity.   

It is acknowledged there are areas where sound controls are in place and operating consistently:

• Responsibility for corporate health and safety is assigned to the Executive Manager - Public Protection, supported by the Health and Safety Advisor. 
Individual managers will be assigned day to day responsibility for their areas as the new health and safety management system is rolled out.

• Policies and procedures exist covering health and safety which are accessible to staff and members via the respective Council intranets. Copies will 
also be available via the new health and safety management system when fully operational. 

• Incidents/accidents are reported to the respective health and safety sub committees and to the Joint Strategic Corporate Health and Safety Group 
(JSCHSG).  

P
age 21



Page 10 of 15

Issues to be addressed 

The audit has highlighted the following areas where two ‘important’ recommendations have been made:

Programmed Inspections Health and Safety

• A review is required of all outlying Breckland and South Holland Council owned premises to determine where responsibility for health and safety lay 
and then to obtain the requisite evidence that health and safety compliance is being maintained. This is to prevent the risk of non compliances being 
overlooked and legal action being taken against the Council in the event of injury to staff or members of the public. 

• Health and safety inspections to be undertaken of all corporate premises as a matter of priority and be formally documented with outcomes reported 
to and monitored by, the respective health and safety sub committees, the JSCHSG and EMT so as to reduce the risk of injury to staff, members and 
stakeholders of the Council and the risk of legal proceedings including imprisonment and fines for Council staff, regardless of rank or position.

The audit has highlighted the following area where one ‘needs attention’ recommendation has been made:

Health and Safety Group and Joint Committees

• Terms of reference for the respective health and safety sub-committees require updating to remove reference that an annual work plan is to be 
agreed at the first meeting (of each joint committee) in each municipal year with the terms of reference for the JSCHSG to also be updated to refer to 
the annual work plan being reported to and progress monitored by EMT. This will help reduce the risk of any confusion with the process and or 
inconsistent practices developing.

Operational Effectiveness Matters

Health and Safety Group and Joint Committees

The operational effectiveness matter, for management to consider, relates to the need to improve clarity by aligning meeting minute titles with the respective 
health and safety committees for Breckland and South Holland.  

P
age 22



Page 11 of 15

Assurance Review of Branding

Executive Summary

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT ACTION POINTS

Control Area Urgent Important Needs Attention Operational

Strategies, policies and 
procedures

0 0 4 0

Branding and criteria 0 0 1 1

Total 0 0 5 1

 

SCOPE

The objective of the audit was to review the systems and controls in place within Branding across Breckland and South Holland District Councils to help confirm that these are 
operating adequately, effectively and efficiently. 

P
age 23



Page 12 of 15

RATIONALE 

• The systems and processes of internal control are, overall, deemed ‘Reasonable’ in managing the risks associated with Branding. The assurance opinion 
has been derived as a result of five ‘needs attention’ recommendations being raised upon the conclusion of our work. 

• The audit has also raised one ‘operational effectiveness matter’, which sets out matters identified during the assignment where there may be opportunities 
for service enhancements to be made to increase both the operational efficiency and enhance the delivery of value for money services.

KEY FINDINGS

Positive Findings

• Both Breckland Council and South Holland District Council have documented ‘Corporate Branding Guidelines’, which are available to staff via the intranet.

• Breckland Council also has documented ‘Social Media Guidance’, which is available to staff via the intranet.

• A review of a randomly selected sample of publications for South Holland District Council confirmed that the Council logo had been used correctly in all 
instances.

• Breckland Council has recently updated its logo. Evidence exists confirming that Council employees have been sent regular reminders to ensure that the 
updated logo is used.

• Breckland Council officers working with external partners and stakeholders have been requested to ensure they use the updated logo. Evidence was also 
available to show that third parties had been advised of the need to use the updated logo for Breckland Council, where it was identified that the old version 
was being used.

Issues to be addressed 

The audit has highlighted the following areas whereby controls would benefit from being strengthened, and as a result of these findings five ‘needs attention’ 
recommendations have been made.

Strategies, policies and procedures

• The ‘Corporate Branding Guidelines’ for Breckland Council and South Holland District Council would be enhanced by the inclusion of more specific 
guidance on use of the Council logo in relation to partnerships, contractors and providers of goods and services to the Council, signage, vehicle 
liveries, stationery and advertising, in order to reduce the risk of legal action against the Council if the incorrect branding is used.

• Publication of the ‘Corporate Branding Guidelines’ on the respective Council websites, would provide guidance to third parties, and would help to 
reduce the risk that the logo is incorrectly used, reinforcing the message of a strong identity for the Council to its residents and stakeholders.

• The inclusion of a statement that copying and use of the Council logo is not permitted without prior approval from the respective Communications 
Teams in the ‘Corporate Branding Guidelines’ and/or on the Council websites, would help reduce the risk of the Council logos being used 
inappropriately. 

• The production of formal social media guidance for South Holland District Council employees (potentially via the Communication Strategy) would help 
mitigate the risk that social media is used by employees in a way that could damage the Council’s brand and reputation.

P
age 24



Page 13 of 15

Branding and Criteria

• There is a need to update the standard documents available to the public so that they include the current Breckland Council logo. The sign at the 
entrance to Breckland’s Council’s main premises (Elizabeth House) also requires updating to display the correct version of the Council’s logo. 
Ensuring that the correct version of the logo is used reduces the risk that an incoherent message is sent to the Council’s residents and stakeholders.

Operational Effectiveness Matters

The operational effectiveness matter, for management to consider, relates to the inclusion of brief reference to the role of the Communications Team during 
staff induction.

Other Issues

It was noted that the ‘Corporate Branding Guidelines’ for Breckland Council were updated during 2016 and reflect current practice. Although no 
recommendation is deemed necessary, the ‘Corporate Branding Guidelines’ for Breckland Council should state the year of publication, and be tracked to 
confirm that they are reviewed on a timely basis.

P
age 25



Page 14 of 15

APPENDIX 3 – ICT RECOMMENDATIONS - UPDATE

ICT Strategy and Projects

Agreed Action Priority Responsible Officer Due Date Comment 
A scoping exercise be undertaken to identify 
the resource and skills required in order to 
fulfil the outstanding ICT Strategy 
requirements.
Market testing will be undertaken and 
proposals submitted to the clients for 
consideration.

High IT Director May 2016 The Interim ICT Manager has agreed to 
provide a draft ICT Strategy for both client 
organisations by the end of August 2016.

Revised Date – September 2016

ICT Software

Agreed Action Priority Responsible Officer Due Date Comment
All hardware devices that represent a key 
risk to the clients should be reviewed and 
brought up to date in terms of critical 
maintenance data with Support Works

High Sam Needham September 
2016

Not yet due

A review of the software versions (BIOS / 
firmware etc.) for all key infrastructure 
devices should take place and a risk 
assessment undertaken to determine 
whether there are any security or other 
vulnerability risks.

High Michael Payne September 
2016

Not yet due

Due to the volume of work and the very 
specific technical skills that are required to 
complete this work, a scoping exercise to be 
undertaken and presented to the clients with 
a view to commissioning some external 
support. 

High Michael Payne May 2016 Costs for undertaking work obtained, but 
final scope to be agreed.

Revised Date – July 2016

P
age 26



Page 15 of 15

APPENDIX 4 – PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Area / Indicator Target
Audit Committee / Senior Management

1. Audit Committee Satisfaction – measured 
annually

2. Chief Finance Officer Satisfaction – 
measured quarterly

Adequate

Good

Internal Audit Process
3. Each quarters audits completed to draft 

report within 10 working days of the end 
of the quarter

4. Quarterly assurance reports to the 
Contract Manager within 15 working days 
of the end of each quarter

5. An audit file supporting each review and 
showing clear evidence of quality control 
review shall be completed prior to the 
issue of the draft report ( a sample of 
these will be subject to quality review by 
the Contract Manager)

6. Compliance with Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards

7. Respond to the Contract Manager within 
3 working days where unsatisfactory 
feedback has been received.

100%

100%

100%

Full

100%

Clients
8. Average feedback score received from 

key clients (auditees)
9. Percentage of recommendations 

accepted by management

Adequate

90%

Innovations and Capabilities
10. Percentage of qualified (including 

experienced) staff working on the 
contract each quarter

11. Number of training hours per member of 
staff completed per quarter

60%

1 day

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Director Commercialisation (s151 Officer)

To: Governance and Audit Committee – 28 July 2016

Author: Ken Trotter – Interim Chief Accountant

Subject: Annual Governance Statement.

Purpose: To present the approved Annual Governance Statement to committee 

Recommendation: 
1) That Committee notes the report 

2) That the Significant Governance issues contained within the report are considered and 
committee specifies what future actions / reports are required during 2016/17. 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Draft Annual Governance Statement was presented to committee on 26th May 2016 as 
part of the Un-Audited accounts report.

1.2 Committee agreed the draft statement and instructed that it be presented to the Executive 
Management Team (EMT) for final review and approval

1.3 EMT provisionally approved the statement in June 2016 with authority given to the 
Executive Director, Commercialisation to finalise the statement as part of the Annual 
Statement of Accounts. 

1.4 The Un-Audited accounts were finalised and handed over to the Auditors on 30th June 2016 
and the approved Annual Governance statement (AGS) was part of the document.

1.5 The Financial statements including the AGS were loaded onto the Web site of the council 
on 1st July 2016 for, a minimum of 20 working days, public consultation.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To note the report and that actions as specified by committee have been carried out.

2.2 To do nothing

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 The report and appendix are for information and confirmation of status of the Annual 
Governance Statement

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The Audit Committee are able to demonstrate that best practice is followed and that they 
are proactive in financial management matters of the Authority.

4.2 To enable any key issues to be discussed and clarified as necessary

Page 29

Agenda Item 6.



5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Financial

5.1.1 Significant Governance Issues are specified in the statement which has financial 
implications if actions are not carried out and therefore demand regular monitoring.

5.1.2 Risk factors going forward are also included in the Report which also needs regular 
monitoring particularly in respect of mitigation where the council can limit exposure to the 
risk.

5.1.3 Progress on the action plan from the Internal Audit annual report will be added to the work 
plan for future meetings.  

5.2      Risks

5.2.1   Committee receives a report on Strategic risks at every meeting which is in addition to the 
Significant Governance issues listed in the Annual Governance Statement.   

          
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 EMT – Executive Management Team
7.2 AGS – Annual Governance Statement 

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Julie Kennealy Executive Director Commercialisation Section151
Telephone Number: Telephone Number: 01775 761161
Email: Email: Julie.Kennealy@breckland-sholland.gov.uk or 

alternatively ktrotter@sholland.gov.uk (Interim Chief Accountant)

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting
Name and Post: Ken Trotter – Interim Chief Accountant

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Annual Governance Statement
      

Page 30

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
mailto:Julie.Kennealy@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


 1 

Annual Governance Statement

For the Year Ended 31 March 2016

Page 31

http://www.bing.com/images/search?q=tulip+festival+spalding+&view=detailv2&&id=CAEBF028C8036B64EE3E825898F4C994BB8A3E02&selectedIndex=228&ccid=NZVp8p3b&simid=608019911021169490&thid=OIP.M359569f29ddbaa38058ae6ce78677b86o0


 2 

Annual Governance Statement

We are pleased to confirm assurance of Governance arrangements to be of the highest level Green - 
“Performing Well” as reported in the Internal Audit Annual Report for 2015/16.

Scope of responsibilities

South Holland District Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance 
with the law and proper standards, that public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for, used 
economically, efficiently and effectively.  The Council also has a duty under the Local Government Act 
1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are 
exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

In discharging this overall responsibility, South Holland District Council is also responsible for ensuring 
that there is a sound system of governance which facilitates the effective exercise of its functions, 
guarantees that the financial and operational management of the authority is effective and includes 
arrangements for the management of risk.
 
South Holland District Council has approved and adopted a Code of Corporate Governance, which is 
consistent with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government. A copy of the Code is available on our website at www.sholland.gov.uk. This statement 
explains how the Council has complied with the Code and also meets the requirements of the Accounts 
and Audit Regulations (England) 2015.  

The purpose of the Governance Framework

The Governance Framework comprises the systems and processes, culture and values, by which the 
Council is directed and controlled and the activities through which it accounts to, engages with and 
leads its communities. It enables the Council to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives and 
to consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate services and value for 
money.

The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to manage risk to a 
reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can 
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is 
based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the 
Council’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood and potential impact of those risks 
being realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.

The Governance Framework has been in place at South Holland District Council for the year ended 31 
March 2016 and up to the date of approval of the Financial Statements.

The Governance Framework

The Council is responsible for developing policies, making constitutional decisions and deciding local 
legislation. The Council elects a Leader for a term of four years, and the Leader appoints a Cabinet of 
up to nine other Councillors, each holding a portfolio of responsibility.

The Constitution of the Council is updated throughout the year and sets out how the Council operates. 
It states what matters are reserved for decision by the whole Council, the responsibilities of the Cabinet 
and the matters reserved for collective and individual decisions, and the powers delegated to panels, 
committees and community councils. Decision-making powers not reserved for Councillors are 
delegated to Chief Officers and Heads of Service of the Council. The Monitoring Officer ensures that all 
decisions made are legal and supports the Standards Committee in promoting high standards of 
conduct amongst Members.

The Policy Development Panel and the Performance Monitoring Panel scrutinise decisions made by 
the Cabinet, and those delegated to officers, and review services provided by the Council and its 
partners. The Monitoring Officer promotes and supports the scrutiny functions of the Council.

Page 32



 3 

The Governance and Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the effective development and 
operation of corporate governance in the Council. It provides independent assurance of the adequacy 
of the governance arrangements, including the risk management framework, the associated control 
environment, financial and non-financial performance including exposure to risk and potential threats to 
the control environment, oversight of the financial reporting process and scrutiny of the Treasury 
Management Strategy and policies.

The overall budget and policy framework is set by an elected Council assembly and all decisions are 
made within this framework. The Council assembly is responsible for approving the General Fund 
budget, the Housing Revenue Account rent charges and budget, Capital strategy and expenditure 
programmes, Special expenses, Treasury Management and the Medium Term Financial Plan.

The statutory officers of South Holland District Council are the Chief Executive, the Monitoring Officer 
and the Section 151 Officer. They are responsible for ensuring the Council acts within the law and in 
accordance with established policies and procedures. The Section 151 Officer is specifically 
responsible for the proper discharge of financial arrangements and must advise the Council where any 
proposal might be unlawful or where expenditure is likely to exceed resources, and to ensure that the 
authority’s financial management arrangements conform to the governance requirements as set out in 
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy statement on the Role of the Chief Financial 
Officer (2010).  

The Monitoring Officer is responsible for advising the Council if any proposal, decision or omission is 
likely to give rise to unlawfulness or maladministration.

The statutory officers are also members of the authority’s Executive Management Team. Service 
Managers are responsible for ensuring that legislation and policy relating to service delivery and health 
and safety are implemented in practice.

Strategic leadership
The authority updates and issues a corporate plan on an annual basis setting out ambitions and aims 
for delivering an increase to the prosperity and wellbeing of our residents and businesses, whilst 
striving to protect and enhance the environment and unique historic character of the district. It explains 
the context of the area of South Holland, the challenges faced, and how the views of residents 
influence priorities for action. The corporate plan highlights planned activities over a four year period 
and sets out corporate values and behaviours. 

Partnership working
The Financial Regulations of the Council set out the principles of effective management of resources 
when working in partnership, including the setting of clear objectives and management of financial and 
delivery risks. 

The South Holland District Council shared management arrangement with Breckland District Council is 
now well-established and was reviewed during 2015, leading to structure changes to better reflect the 
needs of the Council at a strategic and operational level. This commitment to sharing a management 
team does not encompass the elected councils which will continue to exercise independent 
democratically accountable local government in their respective districts, each having its own 
governance arrangements. A Memorandum of Understanding is in place, and sets out the governance 
arrangements for shared management and joint working.

Companies
Compass Point Business Services (East Coast) Ltd. (CPBS) was set up by South Holland and East 
Lindsey District Councils in August 2010 to deliver human resources, customer services, ICT, revenues 
and benefits, and financial services to the two authorities. South Holland District Council owns a 37% 
stake in the company with the remaining share being owned by East Lindsey District Council. Each 
authority has equal voting rights.  

The CPBS Board of Directors includes Councillors and Chief Officers of both authorities. The company 
has regularly reported its progress on performance of services to the Monitoring Officer, with quarterly 
shareholder performance being subject to Scrutiny. 

Page 33



 4 

An annual business plan is approved by council. The ongoing governance arrangements are set out in 
the Service Level Agreement (SLA), and a management Agreement is in place that sets out the 
partnership arrangements, principles and parameters.

The Council is the sole shareholder of South Holland Local Housing Community Interest Company. The 
board of directors is responsible for preparing the Director’s report, financial statements and 
governance arrangements for the company. 

Welland Homes Limited was set up during the year and the Council is the sole shareholder. The Board 
of Directors is responsible for preparing the Director’s report, Financial Statements and governance 
arrangements for the company. Officers of the Council work within this framework to deliver services to 
the company and Welland Homes operates within the governance arrangements of the Council when 
delivering services to the authority. 

Quality of service
The annual business planning processes are part of an integrated planning framework which ensures 
that service planning and related resource management flow from the Corporate Plan and the Medium 
Term Financial Plan. The overall effectiveness of services is measured through the performance 
management framework. Quarterly service and financial performance is reported formally to Cabinet. 
 
Transparency
The Council strives to be publicly accountable and routinely presents its work with openness and 
transparency on its website in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government 
Transparency Code 2014.

Complaints
The Council has in place a Whistle-blowing Policy as well as a compliments and complaints procedure 
that ensure that any referrals are fully investigated, properly resolved and learning applied to service 
delivery. Systems and procedures have been enhanced to ensure that complaints/service requests are 
a cornerstone of the management approach of the Council.

Functions and roles

Effective leadership 
The Constitution sets out roles and responsibilities for the Council and its standing committees. All 
working groups have clear terms of reference for their work in supporting policy development and 
progress monitoring. Roles and responsibilities of Councillors are defined in both generic and specific 
job descriptions that have been tested through consultation and based on a recommended national 
model with some additional local interpretation. A clear Officer/Member delegation framework exists to 
provide clarity on the powers entrusted in those appointed to make decisions on behalf of the Council.

The Council has adopted a standard form of committee report which seeks to ensure that all matters 
coming to Councillors for decision have first received consideration in respect of all appropriate and 
necessary, legal, financial and professional matters, as well as risk. This has been expanded to include 
coverage of technical matters such as carbon footprint. The Council updates and publishes Key 
Decision and Exemption Plans. This is a record of all key and exempt decisions the Executive expects 
to make in the next twelve months. 
 
Working relationships
The Constitution of the Council sets out all schemes of Delegated Authority for Officers, including the 
conditions of such delegation.

All staff have conditions of employment and job descriptions that set out their roles and responsibilities. 
There is also a competency framework. The framework defines the competencies required of each post 
in the Council so that individuals can be assessed against them to identify suitability for the posts, 
areas of strength and areas for further development. Competencies can be used to measure how well 
we do things and are essential to the performance management process. The competencies provide 
consistent standards across the organisation and help to identify the types of   behaviour the Council 
wishes to promote, develop and engender.    

Page 34



 5 

Standards of conduct 
The Council has a duty to promote the highest standards of conduct and personal behaviour from 
members including co-opted members of the authority and expects the highest standards of conduct 
and personal behaviour from staff. These standards are defined and communicated through codes of 
conduct, protocols and other documents.

Financial and risk management
The Executive Director (Commercialisation) is designated the responsible officer for the administration 
of the financial affairs of the Council under S151 of the Local Government Act 1972. This includes 
ensuring the lawfulness and financial prudence of decision making; providing advice, particularly on 
financial impropriety, publicity and budget issues, giving financial information; and acting as the Council 
Money Laundering Reporting Officer. The Section 151 Officer is specifically responsible for the proper 
discharge of financial arrangements and must advise the Council where any proposal might be unlawful 
or where expenditure is likely to exceed resources, and to ensure that financial management 
arrangements conform to the governance requirements as set out in the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer. 

The Council operates a strong financial management framework to ensure the lawful and best 
economic use of the Council’s assets. Financial regulations are supported by effective financial 
procedures underpinned by the work of internal and external audit. Financial regulations and contract 
procedure rules are periodically reviewed to ensure they remain effective in supporting sound internal 
control.   

Legal and regulatory compliance
Compliance with established policies, procedures, laws and regulations is ensured by the requirements 
of the constitution to give the Chief Executive, the Monitoring Officer (Democratic Services and Legal 
Manager) and the Chief Finance Officer (Executive Director Place) the opportunity to comment on 
every report submitted to a decision making body. The Monitoring Officer has a legal duty to ensure the 
lawfulness and fairness of decision making. 

Councillor and officer development 
The Council has adopted a Councillor Development Policy and Strategy and delivers a comprehensive 
training programme to ensure that Councillors have the opportunity to further develop skills, necessary 
to serve their communities. In March 2015 the Council renewed its accreditation with the Member 
Development Charter.  

Staff performance is managed using a performance development framework. The Performance 
Development Review (PDR) process improves communications and ensures employees have clear 
objectives and an understanding of how they contribute to corporate priorities and goals. All Council 
employees have an annual Performance Development Review which is followed up and monitored by 
the reviewer and reviewee throughout the year. 

There is a strong working relationship between Councillors and staff, and the Council aims to ensure 
that they have the skills, resources and support needed to perform effectively in their roles. The Council 
has an embedded induction process and a continuous development ethos.

Senior officers are also expected to keep abreast of developments in their profession at all times.

Community engagement
The Council is committed to listening to and involving the community and consistently demonstrates 
that it does, therefore both the Medium Term Financial Plan and the Corporate Plan went out for public 
consultation prior to adoption. Our consultation processes provide useful feedback on services, public 
perceptions and quality of life; we provide guidance on good practice and we profile respondents to 
better understand equalities implications. The Housing Service employs a tenant engagement officer to 
work closely with our tenants, some of whom are also our most vulnerable, and understand their 
specific needs. Our community engagement strategy provides a robust strategic framework for 
addressing the most significant barriers to engagement in South Holland, and a programme of action 
for improving information provision, consultation and empowerment.  This is complemented by our web 
strategy and online capability. 

Page 35



 6 

Risk management
Risk management continues to an integral part of the daily activities of the Council. All Member 
decisions are supported by a commentary on the risks involved in taking the decision with this 
developing greater Member appreciation of risk, not least through reports to the Governance and Audit 
Committee. 
Arrangements are embedded in the Corporate Risk Management Strategy and risk registers which are 
regularly reviewed and changed in line with current circumstances.  

Legal powers 
The Council understands its legal powers and limitations, and seek to ensure that it acts lawfully at all 
times. The Monitoring Officer is responsible for advising the Council if any proposal, decision or 
omission is likely to give rise to unlawfulness or maladministration.

Review of effectiveness 

The Council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of its 
Governance Framework including the system of internal control. The review of effectiveness is 
informed by the work of the executive managers within the authority who have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the governance environment, the annual report of the Head of 
Internal Audit, and also by comments made by the external auditors and other review agencies and 
inspectorates. 

The Governance and Audit Committee provides advice on the effectiveness of the governance 
arrangements. It has an important role as the designated audit committee for the Council and considers 
the findings of internal and external audit. It ensures that audit recommendations are implemented and 
considers the effectiveness of arrangements for securing internal control. It challenges the authority’s 
performance against key performance indicators and assesses key corporate risks on an exceptions 
basis to ensure that sufficient mitigating action is taken to manage corporate risk.  

The S151 Officer has provided the Internal Audit service through a contract with Lincolnshire County 
Council which monitors the effectiveness of the control environment and reports specific 
recommendations to the senior management and the Governance and Audit Committee. An annual 
internal audit report and opinion is also produced for the Governance and Audit Committee which 
comments on the overall effectiveness of our control environment. Adequacy of internal controls is 
scored as either a High, substantial, limited or Low assurance by internal audit. 

From the work undertaken by Internal Audit during the year, the Head of Internal Audit and Risk 
Management provides an opinion on the effectiveness of South Holland District Council’s arrangements 
for governance, risk management and control arrangements. Governance and risk management are 
deemed to be ‘Performing Well’ with financial control and internal control or ‘Performing Adequately – 
some improvements required’. Some issues have been brought to the attention of the Governance and 
Audit Committee including grant claim audits particularly in respect of Housing Benefit Subsidy. All 
issues raised are subject to action plans to improve the control environment.

The Executive Management team receives regular reports from governance boards which were set up 
to manage corporate performance and risk. These boards include Transformation, Commercialisation 
and Growth, employee relations, safeguarding, health and safety, emergency planning, and finance, as 
well as the statutory officers group. There are a number of other groups covering cross cutting themes 
and specific services which also report to the Corporate Management Team.

South Holland District Council also participates in the Lincolnshire Counter-Fraud Partnership and 
regular updates are circulated within applicable departments and partner organisations to ensure 
controls are amended as necessary.

We have been advised on the implications of the result of the review of the effectiveness of the 
governance framework by Cabinet and Governance and Audit Committee, and that the arrangements 
continue to be regarded as fit for purpose in accordance with the Governance Framework. The areas 
already addressed and those to be specifically addressed with new actions planned are outlined below.

Page 36



 7 

Significant governance issues

The work of Internal Audit is highlighted in their Annual Report which raises concerns on service 
delivery arrangements, management of risks and operation of controls. The review of effectiveness 
provides good overall assurance on the Governance system. Specific opportunities for improvement in 
risk management and internal controls have been identified as part of this process and are included in 
action plans for relevant officers.

The Council faces a number of issues and areas of significant change that will require consideration 
and action as appropriate over the medium to long-term:

 Delivery of the Transformation Programme, based on Digitalisation, Aligning Public Services, 
Organisational Design and Commercialisation is in progress and is a crucial component of the 
Medium Term Financial Plan

 Delivering the Corporate Plan aim of being a Landlord of choice will necessitate a continued 
strengthening of the HRA including commencement of the Affordable Housing programme in 
2016/17

 The Greater Lincolnshire Devolution agreement signed in March 2016 brings challenges and 
risks with new ways of working including a new Combined Authority with Accountable Body 
status and a Mayoral function

 Ongoing and additional impact of business rates specifically in relation to appeals, and 
generally on the achievement of government targets, the review of business rate retention 
arrangements, potential extension of discretionary rate relief policy on funding and pooling 
arrangements within Greater Lincolnshire

 Continuing impact of reduced government funding, reductions in housing rents and implications 
of right to buy and other national housing policies

 Continued potential impact of Welfare Reform including the delayed introduction of universal 
credit – work is still required to understand the timing and detail of the roll out and to quantify 
the possible impact across the Council

 Ongoing and additional impact of Housing Benefit subsidy particularly in respect of Local 
Authority error rates

Certification

We propose over the coming year to take steps to address the above matters to further enhance our 
governance arrangements, including the continual development of the Risk Management Framework. 
We are satisfied that these steps will address the need for improvements that were identified in our 
review of effectiveness and will monitor their implementation and operation as part of our next annual 
review.

We are satisfied that appropriate arrangements are in place to address improvements identified in our 
review of effectiveness. Progress on these improvements and mitigation of risks will be monitored by 
the Executive Management Team and Governance and Audit Committee through the year and be 
considered in our next annual review.

Signed on behalf of South Holland District Council

Anna Graves                             The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE
Chief Executive                            Leader of the Council

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Director Commercialisation (s151 Officer)

To: Governance and Audit Committee – 26 May 2016

Author: Ken Trotter – Interim Chief Accountant

Subject: Local Council Tax Support Scheme – 2017/18

Purpose: To review specific discounts within the local Council Tax support scheme. 

Recommendation: 

1) That the committee examine current working claimant discounts and recommend changes 
and or amendments to Council for the 2017/18 local council tax support scheme.

2) That officers will prepare a savings schedule based on the recommendations and provide this 
information to the committee at the September 2016 meeting

3) Future work to include a fundamental review of the local council tax support scheme for 
potential changes in 2018/19.  

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Local Council Tax Support scheme replaced the former national Council Tax 
Benefit (CTB) scheme from April 2013.

1.2 The scheme for pensioners continues to be prescribed by government, and allows up to 
100% support against Council Tax liability.

1.3 In 2014/15 South Holland Council Tax Support Scheme required all working age 
households to pay at least 75% of their Council Tax liability.  This scheme has been 
reviewed annually and retained through 2015/16 and for 2016/17.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Retain the existing Council Tax Support scheme for 2017/18

2.2 Examine all discounts in the Council Tax support scheme and revise the local policy for 
introduction in 2017/18

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 The local scheme is now embedded and in its 3rd year of operation. A review of discount 
levels is good practice and national funding for the scheme is diminishing with zero 
contribution from central government by 2019/20.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The Audit Committee are able to demonstrate that best practice is followed and that they 
are proactive in examining policies within the financial framework of the council.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Financial

Page 39

Agenda Item 8.



5.1.1 Council Tax support scheme costs in 2016/17 are forecast to be approximately £4.400,000

5.1.2 Working Age claimants elements cost approximately £1,718,000

5.1.3 The current Medium Term Financial Forecast approved in February 2016 does not include 
any changes to the levels of discounts for working age claimants.

5.1.4 Work on the 2017/18 Medium Term Financial Forecast is due to commence in July 2016 
and any savings targets agreed by committee will be included as they become available for 
consideration. 

5.1.5 Appendix A highlights the main discretionary discounts currently awarded by the council 
that could be changed within the confines of the current system. Software upgrades are 
required for further changes of a fundamental nature which are in progress with our system 
provider with a target date for testing with users of September 2017.

5.1.6 Target savings for consideration are approximately £87,000 (5%).
 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 CTS – Council Tax Support
7.2 CTB – Council Tax Benefit

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Julie Kennealy Executive Director Commercialisation Section151
Telephone Number: Telephone Number: 01775 761161
Email: Email: Julie.Kennealy@breckland-sholland.gov.uk or 

alternatively ktrotter@sholland.gov.uk (Interim Chief Accountant)

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting
Name and Post: Ken Trotter – Interim Chief Accountant

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Working Claimant Discounts

Page 40

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
mailto:Julie.Kennealy@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


Governance & Audit committee- 28/07/16 Appendix A

Local Council Tax Support Scheme

Introduction

The core principles of South Holland’s local CTS scheme are: -

 Protection for : -
People over pension age (as prescribed by Government)

All War Disablement Pensioners and War Widowers

 People with children, disabilities or caring responsibilities will be supported
Retain the core features and continue to apply the wide range of provision in the 
previous Council Tax Benefit (CTB) scheme that recognised the additional needs of 
the disabled, those with children and those with caring responsibilities.

 Incentives to work will be supported
Retain provision within the previous Council Tax Benefit scheme, thereby 
maintaining the rate at which support is withdrawn as income increases.

1. 30 June 2016 (2016/17) Council Tax Support caseload and expenditure 
position

This table shows, as 30 June 2016, the profile between working age and elderly.  The 
Council has no discretion in terms of the expenditure associated with the support for elderly 
category.  Any saving can only be achieved through working age claimants.

Total Claims Average weekly CT 
liability

Average weekly 
award

All Groups 6,229 £17.92 £13.54
Elderly 3,400 £18.18 £15.15
Working Age 2,829 £17.62 £11.61

The split of 2016/17 scheme expenditure (at 30/06/16) between elderly and working age 
groups is shown in the following table.

Total £4,414,615
Elderly £2,696,090
Working Age £1,718,525

2. Financial arrangements

Council Tax Support is administered as a local discount and is part of the collection fund.  As 
such the cost of the scheme is borne by major preceptors.

South Holland’s share of the cost of local Council Tax Support (based on 2016/17 CT levels) 
is around 11%, as demonstrated in the following table.

Council Tax 2016/17 Band D £ %’share’
Page 41



Lincolnshire County Council £1,128.83 75.75%

South Holland District Council £159.84 10.73%

Police and Crime Commissioner £201.51 13.52%

 £1,490.18

3. Options for South Holland’s 2017/18 Council Tax Support scheme

It is important that any changes considered for 2017/18 can be supported by current 
software functionality and this precludes any fundamental changes to the scheme for 
2017/18.

There are a number of changes that South Holland District Council could consider making to 
its current scheme for working age claimants, which would not represent a radical review, 
but would still allow some savings to be achieved on current expenditure.

These are listed below: -

 Abolish second adult rebate.

The current scheme gives a reduction in Council tax up to 25% to a claimant whose income 
is too high to receive Council Tax support but who has other adults living in the household 
whose combined income is low.

Consider abolishing the rebate - Possible saving £5,000

 Introduce a minimum weekly amount of CTS.

At the moment Council Tax Support is paid even if a person is only entitled to a few pence 
per week.

Consider a £5 per week minimum discount – Possible Saving £10,000

 Change non-dependent deduction rates.

A ‘non-dependant’ is an adult living with a claimant but who is not dependent upon them,   
for example an adult son, daughter, mother, father or friend.

An increase in the amount of non-dependant deductions would mean those getting more 
money coming into the household would get less Council Tax Support.

Consider increasing the deduction rates after further modelling has been done by the 
Revenues & Benefits service – Target savings £5,000

 Restrict Council Tax to a particular band.

Currently there is no restriction on eligibility for Council Tax Support based on the band of 
the dwelling.  If Council Tax Support was restricted, for example to Band D, then the 
maximum amount of support would be fixed at the level of Council Tax for a Band D; those 
in bands E, F, G, or H would only receive Council Tax Support based on Council Tax level 
for a band D property resulting in them having to pay a higher proportion of their Council 
Tax.

Page 42



Consider limiting discount at Band C (as 80%+ of residents are in Bands A to C) – Possible 
savings £20,000

 Review capital limits.

Currently claimants who have more than £16,000 in capital are not entitled to Council Tax 
Support.  Capital can be in the form of land, property, stocks, shares, premium bonds, 
money held in banks etc.  If the capital limit was reduced this would mean some claimants 
might no longer be eligible for Council Tax Support. 

Consider reducing capital limit to £8,000 – Possible savings £10,000

 Change the lower capital threshold

Currently capital up to £6,000 can be disregarded for the calculation of Council Tax Support.  
A reduction to this threshold would mean more claimants with savings would have to pay 
more towards their Council Tax.

Consider reducing the lower capital limit to £3,000 – Possible savings £5,000

 Limit backdating

Currently 3 months, this could be limited to 1 month in line with the governments change in 
2016/17 for Housing Benefit.  

Consider reducing backdating to 1 week – Possible saving £4,000

 Remove family premium for new CTS applications.

A family premium is currently awarded on all claims which include children.  From May 2016 
the government removed this premium from Housing Benefit for all new claims made or 
babies born.

Consider removal of the family premium in line with the HB changes this year (This local 
change as with all others would be applicable from 1st April 2017) – Possible Saving £3,000

 Reduce the maximum amount of CTS

Currently working age claimants can get up to 75% support.

Consider introducing a graded system with limits of 50% to 70%, after further modelling has 
been done by the Revenues & Benefits service – Target savings £25,000

 No change

There is of course the option to make no change, and retain the current scheme for 2017/18.

Councils are required to review their CTS scheme annually, and consultation would need to 
be carried out in respect of any proposed changes.  Under current legislative requirements, 
Councils must decide their CTS schemes for the forthcoming year by 31st January.  Changes 
cannot be made in-year.

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Director Commercialisation (S151), Julie Kennealy

To: Governance and Audit Committee 28 July 2016

Author: Sean Howsam – Finance Manager – Treasury (CPBS)

Subject: Annual Treasury Management Review 2015/16

Purpose: To consider the Annual Treasury Management Review for 2015-16 prior to it 
being presented to Council

Recommendation(s): 

1)    That the Governance and Audit Committee scrutinise the Annual Treasury Management 
Review 2015/16 and make any comments for consideration by Council when they consider 
this document at their meeting on 14 September 2016. 

2) That the proposed changes to the Treasury Management Policy be noted and future work 
plans be amended to include a review of status at each meeting of the committee

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 This Council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act 2003 to 
produce an annual treasury management review of activities and the actual prudential and 
treasury indicators for 2015/16. This report meets the requirements of both the CIPFA 
Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code).

During 2015/16 the minimum reporting requirements were that the full Council should 
receive the following reports: 

 an annual treasury strategy in advance of the year (Council 25/02/2015);
 a mid year (minimum) treasury update report (submitted to Governance and Audit 

03/12/2015);
 An annual review following the end of the year describing the activity compared to 

the strategy (this report).

1.2 The regulatory environment places responsibility on members for the review and scrutiny 
of treasury management policy and activities.  This report is therefore important in that 
respect, as it provides details of the outturn position for treasury activities and highlights 
compliance with the Council’s policies previously approved by members.

1.3 In compliance with the requirements under the Code, the treasury management reports 
are being submitted to the Governance and Audit Committee for scrutiny prior to being 
reported to the full Council.

1.4 The Treasury Management function is administered by Compass Point Business Services    
on behalf of the Council.

Page 45

Agenda Item 9.



2.0 INTRODUCTION

2.1 This report summarises the following :-

 Capital activity during the year;
 Impact of this activity on the Council’s underlying indebtedness (the Capital 

Financing Requirement);
 The actual prudential and treasury indicators;
 Overall treasury position identifying how the Council has borrowed in relation to its 

indebtedness, and the impact on investment balances;
 Summary of interest rate movements in the year;
 Detailed debt activity; and
 Detailed investment activity.

3.0 THE COUNCIL’S CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCING 2015/16 

3.1 The Council undertakes capital expenditure on long-term assets.  These activities may 
either be:

 financed immediately through the application of capital or revenue resources 
(capital receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions etc.), which has no resultant 
impact on the Council’s borrowing need; or

 if insufficient financing is available, or a decision is taken not to apply resources, the 
capital expenditure will give rise to a borrowing need.

3.2 The actual capital expenditure forms one of the required prudential indicators.  The 
following tables show the actual capital expenditure and how this was financed.

£’000 General Fund 2014/15
Actual

2015/16 
Estimate

2015/16
Actual

Capital expenditure 2,863 2,156 1,971

Financed in year (1,356) (2,156) 1,971

Unfinanced capital expenditure 1,507 - -

£’000 Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA)

2014/15
Actual

2015/16 
Estimate

2015/16
Actual

Capital expenditure 5,815 7,256 4,449

Financed in year (5,815) (7,256) 4,449

Unfinanced capital expenditure - - -

Page 46



4.0 THE COUNCIL’S OVERALL BORROWING NEED

4.1 The Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital expenditure is termed the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR).  This figure is a gauge of the Council’s indebtedness. The 
CFR results from the capital activity of the Council and resources used to pay for the 
capital spend.  It represents the 2015/16 unfinanced capital expenditure (see above 
table), and prior years’ net or unfinanced capital expenditure which has not yet been paid 
for by revenue or other resources.

4.2  Part of the Council’s treasury activities is to address the funding requirements for this 
borrowing need.  Depending on the capital expenditure programme, the treasury service 
organises the Council’s cash position to ensure that sufficient cash is available to meet 
the capital plans and cash flow requirements.  This may be sourced through borrowing 
from external bodies (such as the Government, through the Public Works Loan Board 
(PWLB) or the money markets), or utilising temporary cash resources within the Council.

4.3 Reducing the CFR – the Council’s (non HRA) underlying borrowing need (CFR) is not 
allowed to rise indefinitely.  Statutory controls are in place to ensure that capital assets are 
broadly charged to revenue over the life of the asset.  The Council is required to make an 
annual revenue charge, called the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), to reduce the 
CFR.  This is effectively a repayment of the non-HRA borrowing need (there is no 
statutory requirement to reduce the HRA CFR). This differs from the treasury 
management arrangements which ensure that cash is available to meet capital 
commitments.  External debt can also be borrowed or repaid at any time, but this does not 
change the CFR.

The total CFR can also be reduced by:

 the application of additional capital financing resources (such as unapplied capital 
receipts); or 

 charging more than the statutory revenue charge (MRP) each year through a 
Voluntary Revenue Provision (VRP).

4.4  The Council’s 2015/16 MRP Policy as required by Communities and Local Government 
(CLG) guidance was approved as part of the Treasury Management Strategy Report for 
2015/16 on 25/02/2015.

4.5 The Council’s CFR for the year is shown below, and represents a key prudential indicator:

CFR (£’000): General Fund
31 March 

2015 
Actual

31 March
 2016 

Budget

31 March
 2016 
Actual

Opening Balance 741 2,237 2,211

Add unfinanced capital expenditure 
(as above) 1,507 - -

Less MRP/VRP and other financing 
movements (37) (254) (1,903)

Closing Balance 2,211 1,983 308

Note: Minimum Revenue Provision contributions will be nil in 2016/17 and each year 
thereafter unless the CFR increases.

Page 47



CFR (£’000): HRA 31 March 
2015 

Actual

31 March
 2016 

Budget

31 March
 2016 
Actual

Opening Balance 69,653 69,411 69,606

Add unfinanced capital expenditure 
(as above) - - -

Less MRP/VRP and other financing 
movements (47) (246) (23)

Closing Balance 69,606 69,165 69,583

Borrowing activity is constrained by prudential indicators for net borrowing and the CFR, 
and by the authorised limit.

4.6 Gross borrowing and the CFR - in order to ensure that borrowing levels are prudent over 
the medium term and only for a capital purpose, the Council should ensure that its gross 
external borrowing does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the CFR in the 
preceding year (2015/16) plus the estimates of any additional CFR for the current 
(2016/17) and next two financial years.  This essentially means that the Council is not 
borrowing to support revenue expenditure.  This indicator allows the Council some 
flexibility to borrow in advance of its immediate capital needs in 2015/16.  The table below 
highlights the Council’s gross borrowing position against the CFR.  The Council has 
complied with this prudential indicator.

31 March 2015 
Actual
(£’000)

31 March 2016 
Budget
(£’000)

31 March 2016 
Actual
(£’000)

Gross Borrowing Position 67,456 67,456 67,456

CFR 71,817 71,148 69,891

 
4.7 The authorised limit is the “affordable borrowing limit” required by s3 of the Local 

Government Act 2003.  Once this has been set, the Council does not have the power to 
borrow above this level.  The following table demonstrates that during 2015/16 the Council 
has maintained gross borrowing within its authorised limit.

The operational boundary is the expected borrowing position of the Council during the 
year.  Periods where the actual position is either below or over the boundary is acceptable 
subject to the authorised limit not being breached.

Actual financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream - this indicator identifies the 
trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long term obligation costs net of 
investment income) against the net revenue stream.

Page 48



2015/16
Authorised limit £90.456m
Maximum gross borrowing position £67.456m
Operational boundary £87.456m
Average gross borrowing position £67.456m
Financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream – Non HRA
                                                                                          HRA

12.44%
27.05%

5.0 TREASURY POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2016

5.1 The Council’s debt and investment position is organised by the treasury management 
service in order to ensure adequate liquidity for revenue and capital activities, security for 
investments and to manage risks within all treasury management activities. Procedures 
and controls to achieve these objectives are well established both through member 
reporting and through officer activity detailed in the Council’s Treasury Management 
Practices. At the beginning and the end of 2015/16 the Council’s treasury position 
including accrued interest was as follows:

31/3/15 
Amount

£’000

Rate/
Return

%

Average
Life

31/3/16 
Amount

£’000

Rate/
Return

%

Average
Life

Fixed rate funding
    PWLB
    Leases

67,456
      13

3.48
n/a

47 years 67,456
-

3.48
n/a

46 years

Total debt 67,469 3.48 47 years 67,456 3.48 46 years
  CFR 71,817 69,891
  Over/(under) borrowing   (4,348) (2,435)

Cash and investments:
  long term      (50) n/a n/a (50) n/a n/a
  short term (14,315) 0.84 119 days (21,027) 0.91 165 days
  instant access deposits  (9,091) 0.44 1 day  (6,571) 0.48 1 day
Total cash and 
investments (23,456) 0.69 73 days (27,648) 0.80 124 days

Net debt  44,013  39,808

Page 49



5.2 Investments held at 31 March 2016 including accrued interest were as follows:

5.3 As at 31 March 2016 the maturity structure of the investment portfolio was all under one 
year with the exception of the £50,000 to the Local Capital Finance Company Ltd which 
has been created by the Municipal Bonds Agency.  The whole of the borrowing is due for 
repayment on 28 March 2062.

5.4 All borrowing is at fixed rates and cash/investment holdings are split £21.027m fixed and 
£6.571m variable.

6.0 THE STRATEGY FOR 2015/16

6.1 The expectation for interest rates within the strategy for 2015/16 anticipated low but rising 
Bank Rate (starting in quarter 1 of 2016), and gradual rises in medium and longer term 
fixed borrowing rates during 2016/17.  Variable, or short-term rates, were expected to be 
the cheaper form of borrowing over the period.  Continued uncertainty in the aftermath of 
the 2008 financial crisis promoted a cautious approach, whereby investments would 
continue to be dominated by low counterparty risk considerations, resulting in relatively 
low returns compared to borrowing rates.

6.2 In this scenario, the treasury strategy was to postpone borrowing to avoid the cost of 
holding higher levels of investments and to reduce counterparty risk.

Financial Institution
Amount

£’000
Start 
Date

Maturity 
Date

Rate/
Return

%

 Local Capital Finance Company Ltd     50 n/a n/a n/a

 National Westminster Bank (Instant
 Access)       2 n/a n/a 0.25

 Svenska Handelsbanken 2,967 n/a n/a 0.48

 CCLA Money Market Fund 3,601 n/a n/a 0.49

 Lloyds Bank 1,717 09/04/15 07/04/16 1.00

 Nationwide Building Society 1,003 14/10/15 14/04/16 0.66

 Lloyds Bank – Thornfields S106    248 31/03/16 28/04/16 0.28

 Nationwide Building Society 1,003 04/11/15 04/05/16 0.66

 Goldman Sachs 3,507 05/01/16 05/07/16 0.785

 Royal Bank of Scotland 3,020 31/07/15 29/07/16 0.97

 Royal Bank of Scotland 1,509 14/08/15 12/08/16 0.97

 Toronto Dominion Bank 4,013 03/12/15 01/12/16 0.92

 Helaba Bank 3,006 13/01/16 13/01/17 1.00

 Helaba Bank 2,002 01/03/16 28/02/17 0.95

TOTAL 27,648

Page 50



7.0 THE ECONOMY AND INTEREST RATES

7.1 Market expectations for the first increase in Bank Rate moved considerably during 
2015/16, starting at quarter 3 2015 but soon moving back to quarter 1 2016.   However, by 
the end of the year, market expectations had moved back radically to quarter 2 2018 due 
to many fears including concerns that China’s economic growth could be heading towards 
a hard landing; the potential destabilisation of some emerging market countries 
particularly exposed to the Chinese economic slowdown; and the continuation of the 
collapse in oil prices during 2015 together with continuing Eurozone growth uncertainties.

7.2 These concerns have caused sharp market volatility in equity prices during the year with 
corresponding impacts on bond prices and bond yields due to safe haven flows.  Bank 
Rate, therefore, remained unchanged at 0.5% for the seventh successive year.  Economic 
growth (GDP) in 2015/16 has been disappointing with growth falling steadily from an 
annual rate of 2.9% in quarter 1 2015 to 2.1% in quarter 4.

The sharp volatility in equity markets during the year was also reflected in bond yields.  
However, the overall dominant trend in bond yields since July 2015 has been for them to 
fall to historically low levels as forecasts for inflation have repeatedly been revised 
downwards and expectations of increases in central rates have been pushed back.  In 
addition, a notable trend in the year was that several central banks introduced negative 
interest rates as a measure to stimulate the creation of credit and hence economic growth.

7.3 The European Central Bank (ECB) commenced a full blown quantitative easing 
programme of purchases of Eurozone government and other bonds starting in March at 
€60bn per month.  This put downward pressure on Eurozone bond yields.  There was a 
further increase in this programme of Quantitative Easing in December 2015.

7.4 As for America, the economy has continued to grow healthily on the back of resilient 
consumer demand.  The first increase in the central rate occurred in December 2015 
since when there has been a return to caution as to the speed of further increases due to 
concerns around the risks to world growth.

7.5 The UK elected a majority Conservative Government in May 2015, removing one potential 
concern but introducing another due to the promise of a referendum on the UK remaining 
part of the European Union. The government maintained its tight fiscal policy stance but 
the more recent downturn in expectations for economic growth has made it more difficult 
to return the public sector net borrowing to a balanced annual position within the period of 
this parliament.

Page 51



8.0 BORROWING RATES IN 2015/16

8.1 PWLB certainty maturity borrowing rates - the following graph shows PWLB certainty 
maturity rates for a selection of maturity periods throughout the financial year.

9.0 BORROWING OUTTURN FOR 2015/16

9.1 Due to investment concerns, both counterparty risk and low investment returns, no new 
borrowing was undertaken during the year.

9.2 The table in paragraph 5.1 provides a summary of borrowing as at 31 March 2016.

10.0 INVESTMENT RATES IN 2015/16

10.1 Bank Rate remained at its historic low of 0.5% throughout the year; it has now remained 
unchanged for seven years.  Market expectations as to the timing of the start of monetary 
tightening started the year at quarter 1 2016 but then moved back to around quarter 2 
2018 by the end of the year.   Deposit rates remained depressed during the whole of the 
year, primarily due to the effects of the Funding for Lending Scheme and due to the 
continuing weak expectations as to when Bank Rate would start rising.

Page 52



11.0 INVESTMENTS OUTTURN FOR 2015/16

11.1 Investments Policy – the Council’s investment policy is governed by the Communities and 
Local Government guidance, which has been implemented in the annual investment 
strategy approved by the Council on 25 February 2015.  This policy sets out the approach 
for choosing investment counterparties, and is based on credit ratings provided by the 
three main credit rating agencies supplemented by additional market data (such as rating 
outlooks, credit default swaps, bank share prices etc.).

11.2 The investment activity during the year conformed to the approved strategy, and the 
Council had no liquidity difficulties.

11.3 Resources - the Council’s cash balances comprise revenue and capital resources and 
cash flow monies.  The Council’s core cash resources comprised as follows:

Balance Sheet Resources (£’000) 31 March 2015 31 March 2016

Balances 11,023 11,069

Earmarked Reserves 9,474 7,641

Major Repairs Reserve - 2,609

Capital Grants and Contributions 1,522 1,688

Usable capital receipts 1,907 2,579

Total 23,926 25,586

Page 53



11.4 Investments held by the Council - the Council maintained an average balance of £32.8m 
of internally managed funds.  The internally managed funds earned an average rate of 
return of 0.71%.  The comparable performance indicator is the average 3 Month LIBID 
rate, which was 0.46%.

11.5 Actual investment interest earned during 2015/16 was £223,902 against an original 
budget of £154,800.

12.0 OPTIONS

12.1 There are no alternative options presented.

13.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

13.1 To comply with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management 2011.

14.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

14.1 The report provides Members with a summary of the economy, the effect it has had on 
financial markets and the treasury activity during 2015/16. The report requires scrutiny 
prior to submitting to Council for approval.

15.0 IMPLICATIONS

15.1 Constitution & Legal

15.1.1 This Council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act 2003 to 
produce an annual treasury management review of activities and the actual prudential and 
treasury indicators for 2015/16. This report meets the requirements of both the CIPFA 
Code of Practice on Treasury Management and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities.

15.1.2 The Council’s financial strategy, capital financing and borrowing all form part of the Policy 
Framework and are therefore non-executive matters that fall within the remit of the full 
Council.

15.2 Financial 

15.2.1 The report provides details of the treasury activity for the 2015/16 financial year to inform 
members on performance and to highlight any changes in the year.

15.2.2 Total interest received was £234k with £170k to the General fund (£44k above budget) 
and £64k to the Housing Revenue Account (£36k above budget)

15.2.3 Changes to the CFR for the General Fund include a Voluntary Revenue Provision of 
£1.6m which reduces future years Minimum Revenue Provision costs to nil in line with the 
MRP policy.

15.2.4 Interest rate changes are highlighted in paragraph 10 above and there is potential for 
further changes being introduced in the near future so this report is being extended to 
cover the situation that currently exists and introduce interim Treasury Management Policy 
changes.

Page 54



15.2.5 The committee is asked to review the attached report to Council in respect of these 
changes, to the Treasury Management Policy, and agree future scrutiny actions.

15.3 Risk Management 

15.3.1 The Council’s investment policy has regard to the CLG’s Guidance on Local
Government Investments (“the Guidance”) and the revised CIPFA Treasury
Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes 
(“the CIPFA TM Code”). The Council’s investment priorities are security first, liquidity 
second, then return..

16.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

16.1 Due to budgetary considerations all wards are affected

17.0 ACRONYMS 

17.1 CPBS – Compass Point Business Services
17.2 CIPFA – Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
17.3 HRA – Housing Revenue Account
17.4 CFR – Capital Financing Requirement
17.5 PWLB – Public Works Loan Board
17.6 MRP – Minimum Revenue Provision
17.7 VRP – Voluntary Revenue Provision
17.8 ECB – European Central Bank
17.9 GDP – Gross Domestic Product
17.10 GF – General Fund

Background papers: - SHDC Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2015/16

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Sean Howsam – Finance Manager Treasury (CPBS)
Telephone Number: 01507 613248
Email: sean.howsam@cpbs.com

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix 1 -         27th July 2016, Council Report on Treasury Management Policy Amendments

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder Finance & Executive Director Commercialisation (S151), 
Julie Kennealy

To: Council 27th July 2016

(Author: Ken Trotter – Chief Accountant (Deputy S151 Officer)

Subject: Treasury Management Policy Amendments 

Purpose: To set an interim Treasury Management Policy which reflects changing 
liquidity requirments of the Council as part of amendments to the Medium 
Term Financial Plan

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Delegated Authority be given to the S151 officer in consultation with the Portfolio holder 
Finance and the Governance & Audit committee to vary counter party limits for investment 
and short term deposits.

2) That Governance & Audit review the situation at each meeting of the committee and report 
status to the council until 31st March 2017 when this policy will be superceded by the 2017/18 
Treasury Management Policy. 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash raised 
during the year will meet cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury management operation is to 
ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available when it is needed.  
Surplus monies are invested in low risk counterparties or instruments in accordance with a low 
risk policy, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return.

The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the Council’s 
capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council, 
essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure that the Council can meet its capital 
spending obligations.  This management of longer term cash may involve arranging long or 
short term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses.  
CIPFA defines treasury management as:

“The management of the local authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money 
market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those 
activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks. ”

The Council’s treasury function is undertaken by Compass Point Business Services (East 
Coast) Ltd (CPBS) on behalf of the Council. CPBS is responsible for: -

 Production of the draft annual treasury management strategy 
 Production of regular treasury management policy reports
 Production of treasury management practices
 Production of budget and budget variations relating to the treasury management 

function
 Production of management information reports
 Provision of adequate treasury management resources and skills, and effective 

division of responsibilities within the treasury management function

Page 57



 Arrangement of the appointment of external service providers.
1.2 Reporting requirements

The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main reports each 
year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and actuals. 

  
Prudential and Treasury Indicators and Treasury Strategy - The first, and most important 
report is issued with the annual budget report and covers:

 the capital plans (including prudential indicators);
 a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy (how residual capital expenditure is 

charged to revenue over time);
 the treasury management strategy (how the investments and borrowings are to 

be organised) including treasury indicators; and 
 an investment strategy (the parameters on how investments are to be managed).

A Mid Year Treasury Management Report – This will update members with the progress 
of the capital position, amending prudential indicators as necessary, and whether any 
policies require revision.

An Annual Treasury Report – This provides details of a selection of actual prudential and 
treasury indicators and actual treasury operations compared to the estimates within the 
strategy.

1.3   Scrutiny

The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being recommended 
to the Council.  This role is undertaken by the Governance and Audit Committee.

1.4 The annual report for 2015/16 Treasury activity is being presented to Governance & Audit   
committee on 28th July 2016 and additional information is included from this report on the 
outlook for  investment rates and potential Base Rate changes..

1.5   Current Position

The summary position of the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) meeting on 13th July 
2016 is shown below for information. 

The Bank of England’s MPC sets monetary policy to meet the 2% inflation target and in a 
way that helps to sustain growth and employment. At its meeting ending on 13 July 2016, 
the MPC voted by a majority of 8-1 to maintain Bank Rate at 0.5%, with one member 
voting for a cut in Bank Rate to 0.25%. The Committee voted unanimously to maintain the 
stock of purchased assets financed by the issuance of central bank reserves at £375 
billion. Committee members made initial assessments of the impact of the vote to leave 
the European Union on demand, supply and the exchange rate. In the absence of a 
further worsening in the trade-off between supporting growth and returning inflation to 
target on a sustainable basis, most members of the Committee expect monetary policy to 
be loosened in August. The precise size and nature of any stimulatory measures will be 
determined during the August forecast and Inflation Report round.

Financial markets have reacted sharply to the United Kingdom’s vote to leave the 
European Union. Since the Committee’s previous meeting, the sterling effective exchange 
rate has fallen by 6%, and short-term and longer-term interest rates have declined. 
Reflecting the fall in the level of sterling, financial market measures of inflation 
expectations have risen moderately at short-term horizons, but only to around historical 
averages, and have fallen slightly at longer horizons. Markets have functioned well, and 
the improved resilience of the core of the UK financial system and the flexibility of the 
regulatory framework has allowed the impact of the referendum result to be dampened 
rather than amplified.

Page 58



1.6 The Bank of England base rate remains at 0.5% but the potential for a lower rate in 
August is being reflected in lower investment returns from all counter parties offering 
facilities to the council.

1.7 The Medium Term Financial Plan incorporates changes to the financial returns available 
to the council outside of this traditional Treasury management. This includes the Revised 
Welland Homes (WH) Business Plan which has been recommended by Cabinet. If the 
plan is approved by Council all funds will be provided from internal borrowing / lending 
rather than any external funding which was in the original plan.

1.8 The WH business plan incorporates a pilot development for delivery of homes directly to 
the Housing Revenue Account for use as Affordable Housing. In conjunction with this, 
options for acquisition of units are also being explored with a view to accelerating the 
recovery of lost rent from increased right to buy sales of dwellings.

1.9 Commercialisation activities including a review of potential nvestments funded from the 
Growth fund are also in progress.

1.10 In order to ensure liquidity within these potential cash flow requirements an interim change 
to the Treasury management policy  is proposed. As funds are returned from counter 
parties in the next 3 months no new medium (6 months) or long (12 months) term 
investments will be actioned and the policy will be reviewed after this initial period of 
change and amended as necessary with regular actions and reviews taking place until 
31st March 2017. Regular updates will be issued to the Governance & Audit Committee to 
ensure members are fully informed on status & progress..

1.11 As an alternative, short (1 month or less) term deposits will be actioned while cash flow 
requirements are being finalised.

1.12 This will mean that short term instant access cash balances will rise as a consequence 
and generally the counter party limits will need to be adjusted upwards. It is proposed that 
the Executive Director commercialisation (S151 officer) will monitor all activity and set 
appropriate limits during these challenging times. 

1.13 In oder to provide additional security on cash balances it is also proposed that the council 
uses the services of The Debt Management Office (DMO).

1.14 The DMO is an Executive Agency of Her Majesty's Treasury which carries out debt and 
cash management for the UK Government, lending to local authorities and managing 
certain public sector funds. Interest rates are generally low (currently 0.25% below the 
base rate) but security of funds is of the highest level. Limited use of these facilities will 
allow the S151 officer to balance security of funds within the regime of short term deposits 
during 2016/17.

1.15 The Municipal Bonds agency is also in the market  but a short term deposit scheme is not 
yet part of their portfolio. Other facilities utilising this agency are also being examined and 
a report will be presented to council in September 2016 to consider these options.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Note The report and accept the recommendations

2.2 Note the report, do not accept the recommendations and instruct Treasury Management 
to follow the exisiting policy This option could lead to liquidity issues for proposed projects 
and involve medium / long term investments which do not contribute to the Medium Term 
Financial Plan. 

Page 59



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 During a period of uncertainty and an extended timescale for an improvement in 
investment rates, alternative uses of cash balances are being progressed to ensure 
overall yield from cash balances, to the council, is in line with targets. 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Improved use of Council cash balances which contribute to the overall budget in line with 
the Medium Term Financial Plan.

5.0   IMPLICATIONS

5.1        Constitution & Legal

5.1.1   The Treasury Management Policy is approved by Council as part of the annual Budget & 
Medium Term Financial Plan submission to council in February of each year.

5.1.2   The 2016/17 Treasury Management policy was approved by Council 24th February 2016 
and includes specific Minimum Revenue Provsion terms in relation to 100% owned 
companies “Any loans to Welland Homes and South Holland Local Housing Company 
which are classed as capital expenditure will increase the Councils CFR. The Council will 
earmark the repayment of the loans to reduce the CFR and therefore will not apply MRP 
on such loans.”

5.2   Financial 

5.2.1   Cash and Cash equivalent deposits as at the 30th June 2016 are as per the table below

5.2.2 Average investment rate on offer for 6 months and beyond is currently 0.5% which is in 
line with the Bank of England Base Rate.

Counter Party Maturity Deposit Interest
Goldman Sachs 05/07/2016 £3.5m 0.79%
Lloyds Bank S106 Money 29/07/2016 £0.25m 0.28%
Royal Bank of Scotland 31/07/2016 £3m 0.97%
Royal Bank of Scotland 12/08/2016 £1.5m 0.97%
Nationwide BS 30/09/2016 £3m 0.70%
Nationwide BS 14/10/2016 £1m 0.71%
Toronto Dominion 01/12/2016 £4m 0.92%
Lloyds Bank 09/12/2016 £1m 0.80%
Helaba Bank 13/01/2017 £3m 1.00%
Helaba Bank 28/02/2017 £2m 0.95%
Qatar National Bank 12/04/2017 £1m 1.01%
Commercial  Bank Australia 02/06/2017 £2.5m 0.99%

Investments £25.75m
Lloyds Current Account £0.77m -
Svenska Handelsbanken £4.98m 0.48%
CCLA Money Mk £3.25m 0.49%

Instant Access  £9.00m

Total Funds 
30/06/16  £34.75m

Page 60



5.2.3 Current Investments  will only yield a maximum of £417 per month for each £1m 
deposited after the deals shown above expire.

 
5.2.4 £3.5m has been returned to the council since the end of June  and has been placed on 

deposit with the Coventry Building Society at 0.39% for 1 month
.
5.2.5 Loans to Welland Homes are projected to have an approximately value of £1.9m in March 

2017, £3.5m March 2018 & £3.2m March 2019. The high point for borrowing is £3.8m in 
August 2017.

5.2.6 Loans extended to WH  will be charged interest at a commercial rate of 3.5% above the 
base rate and this will be charged on a compound monthly basis using loan values 
existing on each day of the month. Estimated Interest to the Council is approx. £250,000 
over 3 years

5.2.7 Investments are currenly being assessed under a minimum gross return of 6% per annum

5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1 The investment policy of the council has regard to the CLG Guidance on Local
  Government Investments (“the Guidance”) and the revised CIPFA Treasury Management         

in   Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes (“the CIPFA TM 
Code”). Investment priorities are security first, liquidity second, then return.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 Budget implications affect all wards.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 CLG – Communities & Local Government
7.2   CIPFA – Chartered Institute pf Public Finance & Accountancy
7.3    HRA – Housing Revenue Account
7.4    GF – General Fund
7.5    WH – Welland Homes
7.6    MRP – Minimum Revenue Position
7.7    DMO – Debt Management Office
7.8    CPBS – Compass Point Business Services

Background papers:- Treasury Management Policy 

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:  Julie Kennealy Executive Director Commercialisation (S151)
Telephone Number: 01775 761161
Email: Julie.Kennealy@breckland-sholland.gov.uk or alternatively ktrotter@sholland.gov.uk  
(Interim Chief Accountant (Deputy S151)) Tel: 01775 764684

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report: None

Page 61

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
mailto:Julie.Kennealy@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
mailto:ktrotter@sholland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Director Commercialisation (s151 Officer)

To: Governance and Audit Committee – 28 July 2016

Author: Ken Trotter – Interim Chief Accountant

Subject: Governance and Audit Committee Self-Assessment

Purpose: The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 
advocate that it is good practice for Audit Committees to undertake regular 
assessments. Thus enabling members to gain an appreciation of what 
affords best practice, to confirm the level of compliance being achieved, 
and to identify any potential areas for enhancements to be made to 
arrangements.

Recommendation: 

1) That Members note the completed checklist at Appendix 1 and the actions to be completed

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards call for audit committees to assess their remit 
and effectiveness in keeping with Standard 1000 – Purpose, Authority and Responsibility

1.2 CIPFA’s Audit Committee Self-Assessment Checklist (attached at Appendix 1) focuses on 
6 fundamental areas, and 66 individual aspects of operations. The key areas are as follows:

 Establishment, Operation and Duties;
 Internal Control;
 Financial Reporting and Regulatory Matters;
 Internal Audit;
 External Audit; and
 Administration.

1.3 At a workshop session on 24 November 2015 a Finance & Audit desktop review was 
carried out and the checklist, shown in Appendix 1, to assess the Audit and Governance 
performance against the CIPFA standard was completed. This review has continued and is 
now carried out prior to each meeting and revisions as necessary agreed by committee

1.4 The exercise identified actions that would improve the effectiveness of the committee. 
These are highlighted bold in the appendix. The actions include producing an annual report 
on the work of the committee which is planned for September 2016

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 The alternative approach would be for the Committee to not complete the Self- Assessment 
exercise; however this would result in no assurance being provided that the Committee is 
assisting the Council in achieving good corporate governance, and is sufficiently proactive.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 Completion of the Self-Assessment Checklist provides feedback on the effectiveness of the 
current arrangements, and ensures that best practice is followed by the Committee, and 
good corporate governance is achieved.

Page 63

Agenda Item 10.



4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The Committee are able to demonstrate that best practice is followed and that they are 
proactive in helping to raise the profile of internal control, risk management and financial 
reporting matters at the Council.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Constitution & Legal

5.1.1 Examination of the checklist will increase members’ awareness of the annual governance 
statement and increase the level of detail available in respect of the annual review of 
effectiveness of the Governance Framework.

5.2 Corporate Priorities

5.2.1 The Committee, through its terms of reference, helps to ensure that the service areas and 
risks reported are working towards the efficient and effective delivery of the Council’s 
corporate priorities. 

5.3 Financial 

5.3.1 The committee, through its terms of reference forms an important element of the internal 
control system within the council.

 
5.4 Risk Management 

5.4.1 The Committee supports the oversight of the risk management framework, which in turn 
ensures that key risks are accurately reviewed and addressed by following best practice 
and adopting sound terms of reference.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 None.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 CIPFA - Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy.

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Julie Kennealy Executive Director Commercialisation Section151
Telephone Number: Telephone Number: 01775 761161
Email: Email: Julie.Kennealy@breckland-sholland.gov.uk or 

alternatively ktrotter@sholland.gov.uk (Interim Chief Accountant)

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting
Name and Post: Ken Trotter – Interim Chief Accountant

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Governance and Audit Committee Self-Assessment Checklist

Page 64

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
mailto:Julie.Kennealy@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


South Holland -  Governance and Audit Committee Self Assessment Checklist Review Conducted 19 July 2016

No. Priority Issue Yes No N/A Comments/Actions

1. ESTABLISHMENT, OPERATION AND DUTIES

Role and Remit

1.1 1 Does the audit committee have written terms of
reference?

√ Referenced in Part 3 of the Constitution

1.2 1 Do the terms of reference cover the core functions
of an audit committee as identified in the CIPFA
guidance?

√

1.3 1 Are the terms of reference approved by the council
and reviewed periodically?

√ Yes with no changes proposed in 2016/17 to date.

1.4 1 Has the audit committee been provided with
sufficient membership, authority and resources to
perform its role effectively and independently?

√

1.5 1 Can the audit committee access other committees
and full council as necessary?

√ The committee minutes are reported to Council. Members also sit on scrutiny
panels. 

1.6 1 Does the authority's Annual Governance
Statement include a description of the audit
committee's establishment and activities?

√

1.7 2 Does the audit committee periodically assess its
own effectiveness?

√

1.8 2 Does the audit committee make a formal annual
report on its work and performance during the
year to full council?

√ A formal report will be completed and agreed at the September 2016
committee meeting

Membership, Induction and training

1.9 1 Has the membership of the audit committee been
formally agreed and a quorum set?

√

1.10 1 Is the chair independent of the executive function? √

1.11 1 Has the audit committee chair either previous
knowledge of, or received appropriate training on,
financial and risk management, accounting
concepts and standards, and the regulatory
regime?

√

P
age 65



1.12 1 Are new audit committee members provided with
an appropriate induction?

√ There is an ongoing Members' Development Programme   

1.13 1 Have all members skills and experiences been
assessed and training given for identified gaps?

√ Training on finance matters was identified as a need and is being regularly
carried out on specific topics.

1.14 1 Has each member declared his or her business
interests?

√ Members are required to declare business interests in a centrally held register

1.15 2 Are members sufficiently independent of the other
key committees of the council?

√ No member of the committee sits on Cabinet, although a number also have
positions on the council's scrutiny panels

Meetings
1.16 1 Does the audit committee meet regularly? √ Scheduled to meet on four occasions each year
1.17 1 Do the terms of reference set out the frequency of

meetings?
√ Committee reporting cycle is established and is flexible in respect of special or

specific meetings which can be carried out as necessary throughout the year.

1.18 1 Does the audit committee calendar meet the
authority's business needs, governance needs and
the financial calendar?

√

1.19 1 Are members attending meetings on a regular
basis and if not, is appropriate action taken?

√

1.20 1 Are meetings free and open without political
influences being displayed?

√

1.21 1 Does the authority's S151 officer or deputy attend
all meetings?

√

1.22 1 Does the audit committee have the benefit of
attendance of appropriate officers at its meetings?

√ Attendance records have been reviewed and officers have provided the required
level of support at all meetings.

INTERNAL CONTROL

2.1 1 Does the audit committee consider the findings of
the annual review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control (as required by the
Accounts and Audit Regulations) including the
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal
audit?

√ Internal audit reports are reviewed regularly by the committee.

2.2 1 Does the audit committee have responsibility
for review and approval of the Annual
Governance Statement and does it consider it
separately from the accounts?

√ The core statements of the annual accounts were considered by the
Committee in May 2016 and the final accounts will be presented for
approval in September 2016. The draft AGS was considered by the
Committee in May also and the approved version of the Statement will be
presented to committee in July 2016.

2.3 1 Does the audit committee consider how meaningful
the Annual Governance Statement is?

√ Displayed through the level of debate as shown in the minutes of relevant
meetings.

No. Priority Issue Yes No N/A Comments/Actions

P
age 66



2.4 1 Does the audit committee satisfy itself that the
system of internal control has operated effectively
throughout the reporting period?

√ The committee receives regular reports from the Head of Audit and Risk
Management

2.5 1 Has the audit committee considered how it
integrates with other committees that may have
responsibility for risk management?

√ The Audit Committee is responsible for receiving risk management reports.

2.6 1 Has the audit committee (with delegated
responsibility) or the full council adopted
"Managing the Risk of Fraud - Actions to Counter
Fraud and Corruption?"

√

Policies are updated regularly based on work with the Lincolnshire Counter fraud
partnership and the National Fraud Initiative framwork.

2.7 1 Does the audit committee ensure that the "Actions
to Counter Fraud and Corruption" are being
implemented?

√ When it reviews new/updated Counter Fraud Strategy and Whistleblowing Policy,
plus new Audit Plans which do take account of such actions.

2.8 2 Is the audit committee made aware of the role of
risk management in the preparation of the internal
audit plan?

√ This is included in the report when the committee considers the internal audit
plan. 

2.9 2 Does the audit committee review the authority's
strategic risk register at least annually?

√ The Committee receives quarterly risk governance reports and also the strategic
risk register. 

2.10 2 Does the audit committee monitor how the
authority assesses its risk?

√ See 2.9

2.11 2 Do the audit committee's terms of reference
include oversight of the risk management
processes?

√

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND REGULATORY MATTERS

3.1 1 Is the audit committee's role in the consideration
and/or approval of the annual accounts clearly
defined?

√ Established in the terms of reference.

3.2 1 Does the audit committee consider specifically:
- the suitability of accounting policies and
treatments;
- major judgements made;
- large write-offs;
- changes in accounting treatment;
- the reasonableness of accounting estimates;
- the narrative aspects of reporting?

√ Changes to regulations were reviewed in May 2016.

3.3 1 Is an audit committee meeting scheduled to
receive the external auditor's report to those
charged with governance including a
discussion of proposed adjustments to the
accounts an other issues arising form the
audit?

√ There is a provisional date of 1st September 2016 to receive the Annual
Accounts, the audit IAS 260 report & the Auditors opinion. If the IAS 260
report is not available this will be presented to committee on 15 September
2016.

No. Priority Issue Yes No N/A Comments/Actions

P
age 67



3.4 1 Does the audit committee review management's
letter of representation?

√ See 3.3

3.5 2 Does the audit committee annually review the
accounting policies of the authority?

√ See 3.3

3.6 2 Does the audit committee gain an understanding of
management's procedures for preparing the
authority's annual accounts?

√ A July pre-meeting is planned to explain the processes used, and changes to
regulations and policies prior to the committee formally reviewing the statements
of accounts.

3.7 2 Does the audit committee have a mechanism to
keep it aware of topical legal and regulatory issues,
for example by receiving circulars and through
training?

√ Quarterly audit newsletters from Internal Audit and Briefing Notes from External
Audit. There is also a standing agenda item - Training will be given in the July
2016 Pre-meeting  to ensure Members are up to date. Regular briefing notes on
Devolution activity are issued and a presentation on Regulatory progress is
planned over the summer months.

INTERNAL AUDIT

4.1 1 Does the audit committee approve annually and in
detail, the internal audit strategic and annual plans
including consideration of whether the scope of
internal audit work addresses the authority's
significant risks?

√ Annual Audit planning reports taken to Committee in March each year.

4.2 1 Does internal audit have an appropriate reporting
line to the audit committee?

√ As stated in the Audit Charter.

4.3 1 Does the audit committee receive periodic reports
from the internal audit service including an annual
report from the Head of Internal Audit?

√ Updates on progress against the annual plan and follow up of recommendations
are presented each committee

4.4 1 Are follow-up audits by internal audit monitored by
the audit committee and does the committee
consider the adequacy of implementation of
recommendations?

√ These are covered in the Head of Audit and Risk Management's regular progress
reports to the committee

4.5 1 Does the audit committee hold periodic private
discussions with the Head of Internal Audit?

√ Ad-hoc Meetings as necessary

4.6 1 Is there appropriate co-operation between the
internal and external auditors?

√ Joint Working Protocol in place.

4.7 1 Does the audit committee review the adequacy of
internal audit staffing and other resources?

√ See 4.1

4.8 1 Has the audit committee evaluated whether its
internal audit service complies with CIPFA's Code
of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Government
in the United Kingdom?

√ As part of the Annual Report and Opinion which incorporates the Review of the
Effectiveness of Internal Audit, now against the Public Sector Internal Audit
Standards

4.9 2 Are internal audit performance measures
monitored by the audit committee?

√ As part of the above report.

4.10 2 Has the audit committee considered the
information it wishes to receive from internal audit?

√ Established committee reporting cycle with a forward work programme as a
standard agenda item.

No. Priority Issue Yes No N/A Comments/Actions

P
age 68



EXTERNAL AUDIT

5.1 1 Do the external auditors present and discuss their
audit plans and strategy with the audit committee
(recognizing the statutory duties of external audit)?

√

5.2 1 Does the audit committee hold periodic private
discussions with the external auditor?

√ Ad-hoc Meetings as necessary

5.3 1 Does the audit committee review the external
auditor's annual report to those charged with
governance?

√

5.4 1 Does the audit committee ensure that officers are
monitoring action taken to implement external audit
recommendations?

√

5.5 1 Are reports on the work of external audit and other
inspection agencies presented to the committee,
including the Audit Commission's annual audit and
inspection letter?

√

5.6 1 Does the audit committee assess the performance
of external audit?

√ External audit reports regularly to the committee giving members the opportunity
to robustly challenge the performance of external audit.

5.7 1 Does the audit committee consider and approve
the external audit fee?

√

ADMINISTRATION

Agenda administration

6.1 1 Does the audit committee have a designated
secretary from Committee/Member Services?

√

6.2 1 Are agenda papers circulated in advance of
meetings to allow adequate preparation by audit
committee members?

√

6.3 2 Are outline agendas planned one year ahead to
cover issues on a cyclical basis?

√ Established committee reporting cycle with a forward work programme as a
standard agenda item.

6.4 2 Are inputs for Any Other Business formally
requested in advance from committee members,
relevant officers, internal and external audit?

√ There is a standing item on the agenda which receives any Urgent Business

No. Priority Issue Yes No N/A Comments/Actions

P
age 69



Papers

6.5 1 Do reports to the audit committee communicate
relevant information at the right frequency, time,
and in a format that is effective?

√

6.6 2 Does the audit committee issue guidelines and/or a
proforma concerning the format and content of the
papers to be presented?

√

Actions arising

6.7 1 Are minutes prepared and circulated promptly to
the appropriate people?

√

6.8 1 Is a report on matters arising made and minuted at
the audit committee's next meeting?

√

6.9 1 Do action points indicate who is to perform what
and by when?

√

No. Priority Issue Yes No N/A Comments/Actions

P
age 70



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Maxine O’Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy and Governance

To: Governance and Audit Committee – 28th July 2016

Author: Greg Pearson - Corporate Improvement & Performance Manager

Subject: Quarterly Risk Report, Q1 2016/17

Purpose: To inform the Committee on the current status of the Councils’ strategic 
risks

Recommendation: 

1)  That the contents of the report are noted.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1. The last risk report to the Governance and Audit Committee was in May 2016 for Q4.  
Since then, there have been a number of changes to the strategic risk register.  

1.2 This report is generated using the Covalent system and includes updates on strategic risks 
for quarter 1, 2016/17.

1.3 Strategic risks are visible on the Corporate Dashboard which is available to EMT and risks 
are reviewed by EMT quarterly.  In addition, risks are reviewed monthly at the officer-led 
Performance, Risk & Audit Board chaired by the Executive Director of Strategy and 
Governance.

1.4. Strategic risks have been reviewed and updated with the responsible members of the 
Executive Management Team (EMT).  The strategic risk register includes 14 strategic risks 
(see Appendix A) which is an increase of 2 since Q4.  These cover the over-arching risks 
that may affect the strategic direction of the council, rather than risks linked to business 
continuity or those that affect discreet service areas.

1.5 Strategic risks typically affect the whole of the organisation and not just one or more parts 
of it. Strategic risks can potentially involve very high stakes and often affect the ability of the 
organisation to survive, e.g. impact on the ability of the Council to achieve its corporate plan 
objectives and purpose. Strategic risks are managed at Board (EMT) Level.  

1.6 The Risk Framework is currently under review, alongside the implementation of the ICT 
system Covalent.  As part of the Risk Framework review, the procedure in which an 
operational risk becomes a strategic risk has been considered. It is recommended that 
operational risks continue to be monitored monthly as part of the Performance, Risk and 
Audit Board and where a risk remains at a score of 15 or above for a period of more than 1 
quarter after controls and mitigation have been put in place, this risk will then be considered 
a strategic risk and therefore be reported to this Committee.

1.7 As a result of the Risk Framework review the risk matrix has been changed from a 3 x 3 to 
a 5 x 5 matrix, based on best practice in comparable organisations.  This provides a more 
comprehensive assessment and understanding of risk likelihood and impact. The matrix 

Page 71

Agenda Item 11.



results in a numerical score which combines the impact of the risk occurring with the 
likelihood of it happening.

1.8 Risks fall into High, Medium or Low categories depending on their rating 

1.9 Risks fall into High, Medium or Low categories depending on their rating

1.10 The highest scoring risk regards the cyber-attacks to ICT and the threat of a breach of the 
security which safeguards the information we hold. The severity of a successful attack on 
the ICT, and the resulting shut down in order to avoid breaches of data, has meant that the 
risk remains scored as a high risk after controls and mitigation. This continues to be 
monitored and additional security has been released in May as per the notes relating to the 
risk (Appendix A)

Unlikely
(1)

Possible 
(2)

Plausible 
(3)

Likely
(4)

Certain
(5)

Critical (5)

High (4)

Medium (3)

Low (2)

Minimal (1)

High
Medium
Low

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That the contents of the report are noted.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 Not applicable

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 That the Committee is made aware of the Council’s strategic risks and understands that 
they are being managed and mitigated effectively.

Page 72



5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Corporate Priorities

5.1.1 The report contains information on strategic risks relevant to the delivery of the 
Council’s corporate priorities.

5.2 Financial

5.2.1 The report contains information on strategic risks relevant to the Council’s budgets           
           and financial management.

5.3 Risk Management

5.3.1 The report provides detail on the Council’s strategic risks.

5.4 Staffing

5.4.1 The report contains information on strategic risks relevant to the delivery of the 
           Council’s corporate priorities 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 No wards or communities are affected

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 EMT – Executive Management Team

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide

Lead Contact Officer

Name and Post: Greg Pearson, Corporate Improvement and Performance 
Manager

Telephone Number: 01362 656866 
Email: greg.pearson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 

Page 73

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Appendix A South Holland District Council Strategic Risk Register (Q4 
2015/16)

Page 74



Appendix 1
SHDC Strategic Risk Report Q1

Title Description Original Risk Score Controls/Mitigation Current Risk Score Impact Likelihood Latest Note

Critical
breach of
ICT security

Attacks are happening 
with increasing frequency
 at present. Ransom and
 theft specialists are 
targeting banking details 
and personal information,
 as with all other 
government systems and
 private companies 

25

Virus and intrusion
detecting software is
installed. Disaster
recovery processes and
emergency disconnect
plans between SHDC and
ELDC are in place. ICT
department seeking
delegated authority to
conduct shutdown
procedures without
consulting directors if n

15 5 3

Recent heightening of 
security settings has led 
to an increasing amount 
of emails being 
quarantined to the 
software providers 
holding area.  
Whilst necessary, this 
has proved inconvenient
 for users. We are 
therefore changing 
security provider to 
Mimecast on Friday 13 
May for all SHDC email 
account holders. This 
will be rolled out to 
shared managers with 
Breckland-sholland 
accounts at a later date.
 This change enables 
better visibility of 
quarantined documents 
and the ability for users 
to accept quarantined 
emails themselves rather
 than reliance on IT 
colleagues to perform 
this operation 

Impact of
devolution
agenda

Impact of devolution 
agenda in Lincolnshire 
causing pressure on 
Chief Executive's time to 
focus on Council's 
achievement of its 
Corporate Priorities - this
 is compounded by the 
risk of not being involved
 which could 
fundamentally lead to 
changes being forced 
upon South Holland 

12

The potential benefit of
securing favourable
devolution outcomes
outweighs the cost of time
and resource investment
on the devolution agenda
at this time.

12 4 3

There is a risk that time 
and resource spent on 
devolution agenda work 
may be sacrificed should
 a deal not come to 
fruition. Conversely, not 
being involved in 
influencing and shaping 
a devolution deal could 
result in the organisation
 receiving a sub-
optimum deal should 
devolution progress.

P
age 75



Title Description Original Risk Score Controls/Mitigation Current Risk Score Impact Likelihood Latest Note

Failure to
deliver Local
Plan and its
Delivery Plan

Failure to deliver Local 
Plan and its Delivery 
Plan - reputational and 
financial risk due to 
possible Secretary of 
State intervention. there 
is also a new risk 
emerging due to New 
Homes Bonus. 

8
Dedicated senior officer
and EMT support to
deliver the local plan

12 4 3

Revisions to the delivery
 programme include final
 submission in 
December 2016. This 
extended timescale will 
be subject to regular 
and frequent monitoring.

Medium
Term
Financial
Plan Not
Delivered

The Medium Term 
Financial Plan includes a
 balanced position which 
is dependant on delivery 
of the “Going Forward” 
Transformation plan 

12

There are a number of
controls in place to track
delivery including
transformation board,
Performance, Risk & Audit
Board & Finance Board.
PI's are tracking variance
from plan

9 3 3

The 2016/2017 efficiency
 savings position is on 
target for the financial 
year and accelerated 
savings are likely to be 
available for 
reinvestment.

Business
rate
retention
scheme

Business rate retention 
policy changes leave the 
council exposed to risks 
on collection and 
baseline income. 

20

Financial provision has
been made to cover the
risk of current appeals,
collection rates and
growth

9 3 3

Appeals from the NHS 
business rates are being
 examined across the 
country. SHDC has 
provided contingency 
against the financial 
implications for the 
district. 
 
Changes to Small 
Business rates relief has
 potential consequences 
beyond 2020 which are 
as yet unknown. 
 
Devolution in Greater 
Lincolnshire may require
 a pooling situation for 
all authorities which is 
currently being 
examined.

Failure to
maximise
trading
opportunitie
s

Failure to maximise 
trading opportunities 
could result in lack of 
commercial exploitation 
of assets or income from
 trading arms 

9

Governance is in place for
MTFP through
transformation board,
finance board and
Performance Risk and
Audit Board which monitor
the work towards
maximising trading
opportunities

9 3 3

Following recent 
recruitment, the 
executive manager for 
commercialisation did 
not take up the post. 
Therefore this post 
needs to go to a further 
round of recruitment.

P
age 76



Title Description Original Risk Score Controls/Mitigation Current Risk Score Impact Likelihood Latest Note

Staff
recruitment
and retention
at all levels
within the
organisation

Staff recruitment and 
retention issues could 
undermine the 
effectiveness of the 
organisations though loss
 of experience and 
knowledge 

15

The mitigation for key 
senior posts that are 
vacant or serving their 
notice period will be to 
start recruitment and find 
suitable interim cover. 

9 3 3

There are a couple of 
key senior posts that are
 vacant or serving their 
notice period which 
potentially will impact on
 the knowledge and 
skills in the organisation 
particularly relating to 
the council’s commercial
 ambitions. The 
mitigation for this will be 
to start recruitment and 
find suitable interim 
cover.

CPBS Failure
to deliver
core
services

CPBS Failure to deliver 
core services - 
HR/IT/Finance/Revenues
 & Benefits 

12

Number of Governance
processes in place
including monitoring of
performance in
performance, risk and
audit baord. CPBS also
has its own board with
governance.

9 3 3

A number of key posts 
have now been 
permanently recruited to 
and high calibre interims
 are in place during this 
transitional period

Uncertainty
over future
government
funding
settlement

Government funding 
reductions due to a 
weakening of the 
economy may be 
experienced during the 
period of the MTFP 

12

4yr MTFP sets out
programme to be free of
reliance on RSG by 2019.
Finance board will
continue to monitor
acheivement towards plan

6 3 2

The 2016/2017 Local 
Government settlement 
included an offer for a 
four year settlement 
which is being examined
 and likely to be 
accepted in October 
2016. 

P
age 77



Title Description Original Risk Score Controls/Mitigation Current Risk Score Impact Likelihood Latest Note

Failure to
deliver
financial &
non-financial
outcomes of
the approved
Welland
Homes
business
plan

Failure to deliver 
financial & non-financial 
outcomes of the 
approved business plan 
has implication in areas 
which include Legal, 
reputational and 
Financial. Risk also 
refers to capacity and 
expertise in the 
organsation to deliver the
 housing development 
requirement for both the 
HRA and Welland 
Homes.

8

Mitigations as follows; 
Revised governance 
including strengthened 
terms of reference. 
Improved communication 
on Council policies to the 
WH Board. 
Increased operational 
capability and capacity 
within Council to support 
future programmes and 
WH Board of Directors. 
Revision of original 
business plan to be 
completed by June 16, 
presented to Cabinet by 
July 16 and Cabinet to 
recommend for approval 
to Full Council in July 16 
Introduction of a Housing 
Development programme 
manager 
Explore external 
partnerships for specialist 
delivery expertise 
Review requests for 
quotations for Parkside 
Crescent / Severn road 
projects and recommend 
a way forward for these 
projects 

6 2 3

Several mitigations are 
now in place or being 
progressed which have 
reduced the liklihood of 
the risk. They include 
 
Governance 
 
Communication 
 
Increased Capacity 
 
Revised Business Plan

Publication
of gender
pay gap
under
transparency
 legislation

Transparency legislation 
will mean the 
requirement to publish 
the gap between its 
average male and female
 earnings. This could 
lead to increased 
scrutiny from the unions 
which may trigger a 
Unison audit 

12
The mitigation for this is 
to find the additional 
funds to cover the gap 

6 3 2
Commencing work into 
achieving the mitigation 
reduces the risk score 

P
age 78



Title Description Original Risk Score Controls/Mitigation Current Risk Score Impact Likelihood Latest Note

Failure to
deliver the
council's
Corporate
Priorities

Would lead to missed 
targets and failure to 
deliver objectives and 
may result in the Council
 suffering reputational 
damage and a failure to 
deliver priorities to 
residents. 

4

Corporate Delivery Plan
sets out how to acheive
corporate plan and this is
under pinned by individual
service plans and these
are monitored at
Perfromance, Risk & Audit
Board monthly

4 2 2

The approach of the 
Growth and 
Commercialisation 
programme ensures 
delivery against 
corporate plan 
objectives. Progress is 
reported monthly to 
performance board and 
Quarterly to scrutiny & 
cabinet. 

Failure to
effectively
implement
corporate
business
continuity
plan

Failure could lead to an 
impact on delivery of 
services, loss of IT 
systems, ineffective 
communication, a failure 
to provide suitable 
premises or a failure to 
provide suitable premises
 

4

Working jointly with
County to have business
continuity post. Each team
has a plan reviewed
annually

3 3 1

 
1 serious incident in last
 financial year which 
was manged well and in
 accordance with 
continuity plan. This 
demonstrates sound 
process. 

Impact of
County
Council
Budget
Reductions

Impact of County Council
 Budget Reductions. This
 will potentially impact on
 resident wellbeing. 

9

Ensure that Place
directorate are involved
early in conversations to
represent SHDC and its
residents

3 1 3

County Council 
announcements and 
consultations are being 
regularly monitored for 
new developments. 
Currently nil income is 
being assumed within 
the MTFP 

 

P
age 79



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Manager Governance – Mark Stinson

To: Governance and Audit Committee – 28 July 2016

(Author: Christine Morgan - Democratic Services Officer)

Subject: Governance and Audit Committee Work Programme

Purpose: To set out the Work Programme of the Governance and Audit Committee

Recommendation: 

That the Committee gives consideration to the content of this report and identifies any 
issues for discussion.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Governance and Audit Committee regularly considers a variety of reports from Internal 
Audit, External Audit and the Section 151 Officer.

1.2 Many of these reports are considered at regular intervals, the majority being annually, half-
yearly or quarterly.

1.3 In addition to these reports, the Committee also considers issues on an ad-hoc basis with 
some reports arising from consideration of items at previous meetings.

1.4 Attached at Appendix A to this report is the Work Programme for the Governance and Audit 
Committee.  It lays out all meetings for the 2016/17 municipal year.  Alongside each of 
these meeting dates are issues considered by the Committee on a regular basis together 
with the author of the report, its purpose and whether it is mandatory, and the frequency 
with which it is considered. 

1.5 It has been agreed that this Work Programme be a regular item for consideration on the 
Committee’s agenda, thus creating a formal document laying out the work of the Committee 
in a clear, structured and organised way.

1.6 The attached document contains items considered on a regular basis, and also any ad hoc 
issues as and when they arise, for example, issues raised at a meeting to be covered at a 
future meeting, and any one-off issues. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To note and consider the current status of the Work Programme. 

2.2 To do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 To allow Committee members to feed into the Work Programme on a regular basis, to 
ensure that it stays relevant and up to date.

Page 81

Agenda Item 12.



4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The Work Programme is a formal document laying out the work of the Committee in a clear, 
structured and organised way, thus providing members with up to date and relevant 
information.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Constitution & Legal

5.1.1 Constitutional and Legal implications have been considered and in the opinion of the 
author, there are none arising out of this report.   However, the Work Programme should 
assist in providing a clear programme of work for the Governance and Audit Committee in 
line with the requirements laid out in the Council’s Constitution.

5.2 Risk Management 

5.2.1 Risk Management implications have been considered and in the opinion of the author, 
there are none.  However, one of the roles of the Governance and Audit Committee is to 
monitor the effective development and operation of risk management and corporate 
governance in the Council, and the Work Programme should assist in keeping track of risk 
issues.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 No wards or communities will be affected by this post.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Christine Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)
Telephone Number: 01775 764454
Email: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Work Programme for the Governance and Audit Committee

Page 82



APPENDIX A
GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT – CALENDAR OF WORK PROGRAMME ITEMS 2016/17

Date of Meeting Agenda item Author Purpose and whether mandatory Frequency

28 July 2016 External Audit - Progress report External Audit To update Committee on progress.  
Not mandatory, but part of 
Governance role.

To each 
meeting 
where no full 
report 
provided.

Internal Audit – Audit Plan Progress 
Report (Quarter 1)

Internal Audit
(Eastern Internal 
Audit Services)

To update Committee on progress of 
the plan.
Not mandatory, but part of 
Governance role.

Quarterly/To 
each 
meeting.

Annual Treasury Management Review Section 151 Officer To comply with Treasury 
Management Strategy
Mandatory

Annual

Draft Annual Governance Statement 15-
16

Section 151 Officer Approval
Mandatory

Annual

Un-Audited 2015/16 Financial Statement 
Status – report of any substantial 
changes

Section 151 Officer Requested at last meeting on 26 May 
2016

Local Council Tax Support Scheme – 
Revised work plan to be submitted, to 
include specific discounts  

Section 151 Officer Requested at last meeting on 26 May 
2016

Governance and Audit Committee Self 
Assessment

Section 151 Officer For confirmation.  
Good practice.

To each 
meeting

Risk Management Update Report (report 
by exception)

Tim 
Rogers/Charlotte 
Paine

Part of Governance role – not 
mandatory

To each 
meeting

1 September 2016
(Special meeting)

Approval of Annual Governance 
Statement, for inclusion with the 

Section 151 Officer Mandatory – approval required Annual

P
age 83



Date of Meeting Agenda item Author Purpose and whether mandatory Frequency

Council’s published financial statements, 
and approval of the audited 15/16 
financial statements

15 September 2016 ISO 260 Report 15/16 (previously know 
as Annual Governance report)

External Audit Mandatory report to those charged 
with Governance

Annual

Internal Audit – Audit Plan Progress 
Report (Quarter 2)

Internal Audit
(Eastern Internal 
Audit Services)

To update Committee on progress of 
the plan
Not mandatory, but part of 
Governance role.

Quarterly/To 
each meeting

Collectability review – To consider what 
the Authority addresses debt, and the 
current position

Section 151 Officer Good practice
Requested at 26 May 2016 meeting.

Annual

Fraud Report 2015-16 Section 151 Officer Part of Governance role – not 
mandatory

Annual

Governance and Audit Committee Self 
Assessment

Section 151 Officer For confirmation.  
Good practice.

To each 
meeting

Devolution – Presentation on Devolution, 
and a report highlighting the potential 
starting points for the governance 
arrangements

Gerry Dawson Requested at 26 May 2016 meeting

Risk Management Update Report (report 
by exception)

Tim 
Rogers/Charlotte 
Paine

Part of Governance role – not 
mandatory

To each 
meeting

Limited Assurance Areas Internal Audit
(Eastern Internal 
Audit Services)

Requested by Committee 26 May 
2015

ICT and Project Management Internal Audit
(Eastern Internal 
Audit Services)

Requested by Committee 26 May 
2016

P
age 84



Date of Meeting Agenda item Author Purpose and whether mandatory Frequency

15 December 2016 SHDC Annual Audit Letter 2015/16 External Audit Mandatory/Constitutional requirement
To approve audit fees

Annually

Internal Audit – Audit Plan Progress 
Report (Quarter 3)

ELDC Internal Audit Manager to attend 
for Q3 or Q4 report – to be confirmed

Internal Audit
(Eastern Internal 
Audit Services)

To update Committee on progress of 
the plan.
Not mandatory, but part of 
Governance role.

Quarterly/To 
each meeting

Update on the progress of agreed audit 
recommendations and whether 
management have implemented these as 
expected. 

Internal Audit 
(Eastern Internal 
Audit Services)

To update on progress of audit 
recommendations.
For information/Good practice

Twice yearly
December 
and 
May/June

Mid Term Treasury Report 16/17 Section 151 Officer To comply with Treasury 
Management Strategy, reporting 
requirements.

Half Yearly

Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision 
Policy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy 17/18

Section 151 Officer Mandatory requirement.
To review Treasury Management 
Strategy and approve Prudential 
Indicators.

Annual

Governance and Audit Committee Self 
Assessment

Section 151 Officer For confirmation.  
Good practice.

To each 
meeting

Risk Management Update Report (report 
by exception)

Tim 
Rogers/Charlotte 
Paine

Part of Governance role – not 
mandatory

To each 
meeting

23 February 2017 Audit Plan External Audit External Audit Plan – Mandatory 
Approval

Annual

P
age 85



Date of Meeting Agenda item Author Purpose and whether mandatory Frequency

Grant Claims 2015/16 External Audit External Audit Certification of Grant 
Claims – Mandatory Approval

Annual

Internal Audit – Audit Plan Progress 
Report (Quarter 4)

ELDC Internal Audit Manager to attend 
for Q3 or Q4 report – to be confirmed

Internal Audit 
(Eastern Internal 
Audit Services)

To update Committee on progress of 
the plan.
Not mandatory, but part of 
Governance role.

Quarterly/To 
each meeting

Strategic and Annual Internal Audit Plan 
2017/18

Internal Audit
(Eastern Internal 
Audit Services)

Annual Internal Audit Workplan -
Mandatory approval

Annual

Internal Audit Plan (plan for the year 
ahead)

Internal Audit Annual Internal Audit Workplan – 
Mandatory Approval

Annual

Audit Mandatory Inquiries Section 151 Officer To confirm the response of the 
external audit mandatory inquiries. 
External auditors are required to 
obtain an understanding on how those 
charged with governance exercise 
oversight of management’s processes 
in relation to fraud, laws and 
regulations and going concerns.
Good Practice

Annual

Governance and Audit Committee Self 
Assessment

Section 151 Officer For confirmation.  
Good practice.

To each 
meeting

Risk Management Update Report (report 
by exception)

Tim 
Rogers/Charlotte 
Paine

Part of Governance role – not 
mandatory

To each 
meeting

Item to be added twice yearly to Work Programme in December and May/June (as part of the year end reporting) – Update on the progress 
of agreed audit recommendations and whether management have implemented these as expected.  Report from Internal Audit. 

P
age 86


	Agenda
	3. Minutes
	5. Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity
	Progress report on IA activity

	6. Annual Governance Statement
	Appendix A -  Annual Governance Statement 2015-16

	8. Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18
	LCTSS Appendix A 28-07-16

	9. Annual Treasury Management Review 2015/16
	Appendix 1 - Treasury Management annual review 2015-16

	10. Governance and Audit Committee Self Assessment
	Copy of Self Assessment Appendix A 28.07.2016

	11. Quarterly Risk Report - Quarter 1 2016/17
	SHDC Strategic Risks Q1 Report

	12. Governance and Audit Committee Work Programme
	Appendix A


